White Paper and Roadmap for Quantum Gravity Phenomenology in the Multi-Messenger Era

R Alves Batista¹, G Amelino-Camelia^{2,3}, D Boncioli^{4,5}, J M Carmona⁶, A di Matteo⁷, G Gubitosi^{2,3}, I Lobo^{8,9} N E Mavromatos^{10,11}, C Pfeifer¹², D Rubiera-Garcia¹³, E N Saridakis^{14,15,16}, T Terzić¹⁷, E C Vagenas¹⁸, P Vargas Moniz¹⁹, H Abdalla^{20,21}, M Adamo²², A Addazi^{69,95} F K Anagnostopoulos²³, V Antonelli^{24,25}, M Asorey⁶, A Ballesteros²², S. Basilakos^{14,96,97}, D Benisty^{26,27,28}, M Boettcher²¹, J Bolmont²⁹, A Bonilla^{30,31}, P Bosso^{32,33}, M Bouhmadi-López^{34,35}, L Burderi^{36,37,38}, A Campoy-Ordaz³⁹, S Caroff⁴⁰, S Cerci⁴¹, J L Cortes⁶, V D'Esposito^{2,3}, S Das⁴², M de Cesare^{43,2,3}, M Demirci⁴⁴, F Di Lodovico¹¹, T Di Salvo^{45,37,38}, J M Diego⁴⁶, G Djordjevic⁴⁷, A Domi⁴⁸, L Ducobu^{49,50}, C Escamilla-Rivera⁵¹, G Fabiano^{2,3}, D Fernández-Silvestre⁵², S A Franchino-Viñas⁵³, A M Frassino⁵⁴, D Frattulillo^{2,3}, M Gaug³⁹, L Á Gergely^{55,56}, E I Guendelman⁵⁷, D Guetta⁵⁸, I Gutierrez-Sagredo⁵², P He⁶⁶, S Heefer⁵⁹, T Jurić⁶⁰, T Katori¹¹, J Kowalski-Glikman^{61,62}, G Lambiase^{63,33}, J Levi Said^{64,65}, C Li⁶⁶, H Li⁶⁶, G G Luciano⁶⁷, B-Q Ma⁶⁶, A Marciano^{68,69,70}, M Martinez⁷¹, A Mazumdar⁷², G Menezes⁷³, F Mercati²², D Minic⁷⁴, L. Miramonti^{25,24}, V A Mitsou^{75,10}, M F Mustamin ⁴⁴, S Navas⁷⁶, G J Olmo^{75,77}, D Oriti⁷⁸, A Övgün⁷⁹, R C Pantig⁸⁰, A Parvizi⁸¹, R Pasechnik⁸², V Pasic⁸³, L Petruzziello^{32,33,84}, A Platania⁸⁵, S M M Rasouli¹⁹, S Rastgoo^{86,87,88}, J J Relancio^{52,6}, F Rescic^{17,6}, M A Reyes⁶, G Rosati⁶¹, İ Sakallı⁷⁹, F Salamida^{4,5}, A Sanna^{36,37,38}, D Staicova⁸⁹, J Strišković⁹⁰, D Sunar Cerci⁴¹, M D C Torri^{25,24} A Vigliano^{91,92}, F Wagner^{32,33}, J-C Wallet⁹³, A Wojnar¹³, V Zarikas⁹⁴, J Zhu⁶⁶ and J D Zornoza⁷⁵ ¹ Instituto de Física Teórica UAM-CSIC, Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, C/ Nicolás Cabrera 13-15, 28049 Madrid, Spain ² Dipartimento di Fisica "Ettore Pancini", Universitá di Napoli "Federico II", Complesso Univ. Monte S. Angelo, I-80126 Napoli, Italy ³ Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare, Sezione di Napoli, Complesso Univ. Monte S. Angelo, I-80126 Napoli, Italy ⁴ Università degli Studi dell'Aquila, Dipartimento di Scienze Fisiche e Chimiche, via

Vetoio, 67100 L'Aquila, Italy

⁵ Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare, Laboratori Nazionali del Gran Sasso, via Acitelli, 67100 Assergi (AQ), Italy

 6 Centro de Astropartículas y Física de Altas Energías (CAPA), Departamento de Física Teórica, Universidad de Zaragoza, C/ Pedro Cerbuna 12, 50009 Zaragoza, Spain

 7 Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare, Sezione di Torino, Via Pietro Giuria 1, 10125 Torino, Italy

⁸ Federal University of Paraíba, Rodovia BR 079 - km 12, 58397-000 Areia-PB, Brazil
 ⁹ Federal University of Lavras, Caixa Postal 3037, 37200-900 Lavras-MG, Brazil

¹⁰ National Technical University of Athens, School of Applied Mathematical and Physical Sciences, Department of Physics, 9 Iroon Polytechniou Str., Zografou Campus 157 80, Athens, Greece

¹¹ King's College London, Department of Physics, Strand, London WC2R 2LS, UK
 ¹² Center of Applied Space Technology and Microgravity (ZARM), University of

Bremen, Am Fallturm 2 28359 Bremen ,Germany

 13 Departamento de Física Teórica and IPARCOS, Universidad Complutense de Madrid , E-28040 Madrid , Spain

¹⁴ National Observatory of Athens, Athens, Greece

¹⁵ University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei, Anhui, China

¹⁶ Universidad Católica del Norte, Chile

¹⁷ University of Rijeka, Faculty of Physics, Radmile Matejčić 2, 51000 Rijeka, Croatia
 ¹⁸Department of Physics, College of Science, Kuwait University, Sabah Al Salem
 University City, P.O. Box 2544, Safat 1320, Kuwait

¹⁹ Departamento de Física e Centro de Matemática e Aplicações - Universidade da Beira Interior, UBI, Rua Marques dAvila e Bolama, 6200-Covilhã, Portugal

²⁰ IPARCOS and Department of EMFTEL, Universidad Complutense de Madrid, E-28040 Madrid, Spain

 21 Centre for Space Research, North-West University, Potchefstroom 2520, South Africa

 22 Universidad de Burgos, Department of Physics, Pl. Misael Bañuelos,
s/n, 09001 Burgos, Spain

²³ Department of Informatics and Telecommunications, University of the Peloponnese, Karaiskaki 70, Tripoli, Greece

 24 Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare, Sezione di Milano, Via G. Celoria 16, 20133 Milano, Italy

²⁵ Dipartimento di Fisica "Aldo Pontremoli", Università degli Studi di Milano, Via G. Celoria 16, 20133 Milano, Italy

 26 Department of Applied Mathematics and Theoretical Physics, University of Cambridge,

²⁷ Kavli Institute for Cosmology,

 28 Frankfurt Institute for Advanced Studies (FIAS), Ruth-Moufang-Strasse 1, 60438 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

²⁹ Sorbonne Université, CNRS/IN2P3, Laboratoire de Physique Nucléaire et de Hautes Energies, LPNHE, 4 Place Jussieu, 75005 Paris, France

³⁰ Observatório Nacional, Rua General José Cristino 77, São Cristóvço, 20921-400 Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil

 31 Facultad de Ciencias, Departamento de Matemáticas, Universidad El Bosque, Ak. 9#131 A - 2, Bogotá, Colombia

³² Dipartimento di Ingegneria Industriale, Università degli Studi di Salerno, Via Giovanni Paolo II, 132 I-84084 Fisciano (SA), Italy

³³ Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare, Sezione di Napoli, Gruppo collegato di Salerno, Via Giovanni Paolo II, 132 I-84084 Fisciano (SA), Italy

³⁴ IKERBASQUE, Basque Foundation for Science, 48011, Bilbao, Spain

³⁵ Department of Physics and EHU Quantum Center, University of the Basque

Country UPV/EHU, P.O. Box 644, 48080 Bilbao, Spain

 36 Università degli Studi di Cagliari, SP Monser
rato-Sestu km 0.7, 09042,

Monserrato, Sardinia, Italy

³⁷ Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare, Sezione di Cagliari, Cittadella Universitaria, I-09042 Monserrato, Sardinia, Italy

³⁸ INAF – Osservatorio Astronomico di Cagliari, via della Scienza 5, I-09047 Selargius, Sardinia, Italy

³⁹ Departament de Física, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona and CERES-IEEC, Campus UAB, 08193 Bellaterra, Spain

⁴⁰ Laboratoire d'Annecy de physique des particules, Université Savoie Mont-Blanc, CNRS/IN2P3, 9 Chemin de Bellevue, 74940 Annecy

 41 Faculty of Arts and Science, Department of Physics, Adiyaman

UniversityAltinsehir Mah. 02040 Adiyaman, Turkiye

⁴² Theoretical Physics Group and Quantum Alberta, Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Lethbridge, 4401 University Drive, Lethbridge, Alberta T1K 7Z2, Canada

 ⁴³ Scuola Superiore Meridionale, Largo S. Marcellino 10, 80138 Napoli, Italy
 ⁴⁴ Department of Physics, Karadeniz Technical University, Trabzon, TR61080, Turkey

⁴⁵ Dipartimento di Fisica e Chimica, Universitá degli Studi di Palermo, via Archirafi 36, I-90123 Palermo, Italy

 46 Instituto de Física de Cantabria (CSIC-UC), Avenida Los Castros
s/n. 39005 Santander, Spain

⁴⁷ Department of Physics, Faculty of Sciences and Mathematics, University of Nis, Visegradska 33, 18000 Nis, Serbia

⁴⁸ Erlangen Centre for Astroparticle Physics (ECAP),

Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg (FAU), Nikolaus-Fiebiger-Straße 2 91058 Erlangen, Germany

⁴⁹ Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, Transilvania university of Brasov, B-dul Eroilor 29, 500036, Brasov, Romania

⁵⁰ Nuclear and Subnuclear Physics, University of Mons, Place du Parc 20, 7000, Mons, Belgium

⁵¹ Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares, Universidad Nacional Autonoma de MexicoCircuito Exterior C.U., A.P. 70-543, Mexico D.F. 04510, Mexico.

⁵² Universidad de Burgos, Department of Mathematics and Computation, Pl. Misael Bañuelos, s/n, 09001 Burgos, Spain

 53 Helmholtz-Zentrum Dresden-Rossendorf, Bautzner Landstraße 400, 01328 Dresden, Germany

⁵⁴ Departament de Física Quàntica i Astrofísica and Institut de Ciències del Cosmos, Universitat de Barcelona, 08028 Barcelona, Spain

⁵⁵ Institute of Physics, University of Szeged, Tisza Lajos krt. 84-85, H-6720 Szeged, Hungary

⁵⁶ Department of Theoretical Physics, Wigner Research Centre for Physics, Konkolv-Thege Miklós út 29-33, H-1121 Budapest, Hungary

⁵⁷ Department of Physics, Ben Gurion University of The Ngev, Beer Sheva, Israel

⁵⁸ Ariel University, Ramat HaGolan St 65, Ari'el, Israel

⁵⁹ Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, Eindhoven University of Technology, 5600MB Eindhoven, Netherlands

⁶⁰ Rudjer Bošković Institute, Bijenička cesta 54, 10000 Zagreb, Croatia

⁶¹ University of Wroclaw, Faculty of Physics and Astronomy, Pl. Maxa Borna 9, 50-204 Wroclaw, Poland

 62 National Centre for Nuclear Research, Pasteura 7, 02-093 Warsaw, Poland

 63 Dipartimento di Fisica E.R. Caianiello, Universitá di Salerno,
, Via G. Paolo II, 84084 Fisciano (SA), Italy

 64 Department of Physics, University of Malta, University of Malta, M
sida MSD 2080, Malta

 65 Institute of Space Sciences and Astronomy, University of Malta, M
sida MSD 2080, Malta

⁶⁶ School of Physics, Peking University, Beijing 100871, China

⁶⁷ Department of Chemistry, Physics and Environmental and Soil Sciences, Escola Politècnica Superior, Universitat de Lleida, Av. Jaume II, 69, 25001 Lleida, Spain

⁶⁸ Fudan University, 220 Handan Rd, Yangpu District, 200437 Shanghai, China

⁶⁹ Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare, Laboratori Nazionali di FrascatiVia Enrico Fermi, 54, 00044 Frascati (RM), Italy

 70 Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare, Sezione di Roma "Tor Vergata", Via della Ricerca Scientifica 1, 00133 Roma, Italy

⁷¹ Institut de Fisica d'Altes Energies, Edifici Cn, Universitat Autònoma de

Barcelona, 08193 Bellaterra (Barcelona), Spain

 72 University of Groningen, Nijenbirgh 4, 9747 AG, Netherlands

⁷³ Departamento de Física, Universidade Federal Rural do Rio de Janeiro, BR-465 Km 07, 23.897-000, Seropédica, RJ, Brazil

⁷⁴ Department of Physics, Virginia Tech, Blacksburg, VA 24061, U.S.A.

⁷⁵ Instituto de Física Corpuscular, Centro Mixto UV - CSIC, c/ Catedrátic José Beltrán Martínez, 2, 46980 Paterna, Valencia (Spain)

⁷⁶ Dpto. de Física Teórica y del Cosmos & C.A.F.P.E., University of Granada, Avenida del Hospicio sn, 18071 Granada, Spain

⁷⁷ Departamento de Física, Universidade Federal do Ceará, Caixa Postal 6030, Campus do Pici, 60455-760 Fortaleza, Ceará, Brazil

⁷⁸ Arnold Sommerfeld Center for Theoretical Physics,

Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Theresienstrasse 37, 80333 Munich, Germany

⁷⁹ Department of Physics, Eastern Mediterranean University, Famagusta, 99628 Northern Cyprus, via Mersin 10, Türkiye

Northern Cyprus, via Mersin 10, Turkiye

 80 Mapúa University, 658 Muralla St., Intramuros, Manila 1002, Philippines

⁸¹ School of Physics, Institute for Research in Fundamental Sciences (IPM), P.O. Box

19395-5531, Tehran, Iran, No. 70, Lavasani St., Postal Code 19538-33511, Tehran, Iran

 82 Department of Physics, Lund University, Sölvegatan 14 A, SE-223 62 Lund, Sweden

⁸³ Faculty of Natural Sciences and Mathematics, University of Tuzla, Urfeta Vejzagica 4, 75000 Tuzla., Bosnia and Herzegovina

⁸⁴ Institut für Theoretische Physik, Universität Ulm, Albert Einstein Allee, 11, 89069, Ulm, Germany

⁸⁵ Perimeter Institute for Theoretical Physics, 31 Caroline Street North, Waterloo, ON N2L 2Y5, Canada

 86 Department of Physics, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta T6G 2G1, Canada

⁸⁷ Department of Mathematical and Statistical Sciences, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta T6G 2G1, Canada

 88 Theoretical Physics Institute, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta T6G 2G1, Canada

⁸⁹ Institute for Nuclear Research and Nuclear Energy, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, Tsarigradsko shose 72, 1784 Sofia, Bulgaria

 90 Josp Juraj Strossmayer Univer
ity of Osijek, Department of Physics, Trg Ljudevita Gaja
 $6,\,31000$ Osijek, Croatia

⁹¹ Department of Mathematical, Computer and Physical Sciences, University of Udine, Udine, Italy

 92 Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare, Sezione di Trieste, Trieste, Italy

⁹³ IJCLab, Université Paris-Saclay, CNRS/IN2P3, 91405 Orsay, France

 94 Department of Mathematics, University of Thessaly, 3rd km Lamia-Athens, 35100, Lamia, Greece

⁹⁵ Center for Theoretical Physics, College of Physics Science and Technology, Sichuan University, 610065 Chengdu, China

 96 Academy of Athens, Research Center for Astronomy and Applied Mathematics, Athens Greece

⁹⁷ School of Sciences, European University of Cyprus, Nicosia, Cyprus

E-mail: christian.pfeifer@zarm.uni-bremen.de, qgmm.cost@gmail.com

Abstract. The unification of quantum mechanics and general relativity has long been elusive. Only recently have empirical predictions of various possible theories of quantum gravity been put to test, where a clear signal of quantum properties of gravity is still missing. The dawn of multi-messenger high-energy astrophysics has been tremendously beneficial, as it allows us to study particles with much higher energies and travelling much longer distances than possible in terrestrial experiments, but more progress is needed on several fronts.

A thorough appraisal of current strategies and experimental frameworks, regarding quantum gravity phenomenology, is provided here. Our aim is twofold: a description of tentative multimessenger explorations, plus a focus on future detection experiments.

As the outlook of the network of researchers that formed through the COST Action CA18108 "Quantum gravity phenomenology in the multi-messenger approach (QG-MM)", in this work we give an overview of the desiderata that future theoretical frameworks, observational facilities, and data-sharing policies should satisfy in order to advance the cause of quantum gravity phenomenology.

Keywords: quantum gravity phenomenology, Lorentz invariance violation and deformation, gamma-ray astronomy, cosmic neutrinos, ultra-high-energy cosmic rays, gravitational waves, multi-messenger astronomy, spacetime foam

Submitted to: Class. Quantum Grav.

Contents

1 Introduction

5

2	What effects are we looking for?				
	2.1 Quantum fluctuating spacetime ("foam")			8	
		2.1.1	Some specific approaches	9	
		2.1.2	Some specific effects	10	
	2.2	Time	delays in the propagation of cosmic messengers	12	
		2.2.1	Classical time delays	12	
		2.2.2	Possible quantum gravity-induced time delays	13	
		2.2.3	Theoretical challenges	14	
	2.3	Modifi	ications of the kinematics of interactions of cosmic messengers	16	
		2.3.1	Hadronic processes (affecting cosmic rays)	18	
		2.3.2	Electromagnetic processes (affecting gamma rays)	19	
		2.3.3	Weak processes (affecting neutrinos)	19	
3	Astrophysical modelling and experimental requirements				
	3.1	Model	ling of astrophysical sources and the propagation of messengers	22	
		3.1.1	Uncertainties from the modelling of source emission processes	22	
		3.1.2	Uncertainties from background radiation fields	23	
		3.1.3	Uncertainties from interaction cross sections with background and		
			magnetic fields	23	
		3.1.4	Further uncertainties from propagation through intergalactic space	25	
	3.2	Exper	imental requirements	25	
		3.2.1	Propagation effects in vacuum	26	
		3.2.2	Effects from interaction anomalies	31	
4	Proposals for new measurement strategies				
	4.1	Gamm	na-ray experiments	35	
	4.2	2 Neutrino experiments			
	4.3	Cosmi	c-ray experiments	37	
	4.4	.4 Gravitational-wave experiments			
5	Dat	a avail	ability and collaboration between experiments	39	
6	Fina	Final remarks 4			

1. Introduction

Is gravity quantized? If not, why does gravity have fundamentally different properties from the other three fundamental forces of nature? If yes, how does a fundamental selfconsistent theory of quantum gravity (QG) look and where does the quantum nature of gravity manifest itself in observations? These are among the major open questions in fundamental physics.

There are many theoretical approaches aiming at finding a self-consistent theory of QG, such as canonical quantum gravity [1], string theory [2, 3], loop quantum gravity

6

[4], non-commutative geometry [5], asymptotic safety [6], causal dynamical triangulation [7], or causal sets [8], all focusing on different aspects of how the theory should look like, inspired by what we know about the mathematical structures of quantum theory. The path from these fundamental approaches to quantitative predictions of observables often takes huge computational efforts and requires simplifying assumptions and approximations.

What is missing is a clear signal of quantum properties of gravity, the reasons for which might be that we have not yet constructed the right dedicated experiment to search for QG effects, that the current instruments do not yet have the sensitivity needed to detect Planck scale effects, or that some effects have been overlooked in available data.

To bridge this gap between fundamental theories of QG and observations, a bottom-up approach emerged: QG phenomenology [9]. It is a framework that employs phenomenological models inspired by the results from the different fundamental approaches and by physical reasoning about QG, to identify effects which can be searched for in experiments. How and which of these effects emerge from the theory, depends on the theoretical model under consideration, for example: semi-classical field equations; the coupling between local tabletop low-energy quantum systems and gravity; modified gravity with additional scalar or vector fields or modified gravity with additional geometric fields such as torsion, non-metricity or non-linear connections; nonminimal couplings between gravity and matter; deviations from Lorentz invariance as in the standard model extension (SME) or in doubly special relativity (DSR); and many more [9–17]. These models help to devise the experimental setups required for searching for specific signatures, and the types of effects being sought. At the same time, evidence or bounds on any given effect are serving as guides for the construction of fundamental theories compatible with these phenomenological results.

In the last years, the COST Action CA18108 "Quantum Gravity Phenomenology in the Multi-Messenger Approach"[‡] gathered physicists from different backgrounds in the theory of QG and multi-messenger astronomy, searching for possible imprints of QG in the combined observational data of different cosmic messengers, namely gamma rays, neutrinos, ultra-high-energy cosmic rays (UHECRs) and gravitational waves. It became clear that one major obstacle in finding them is that often the searches for QG are not the primary goal of existing experimental setups and observatories, which were originally designed for another purpose. Further difficulties to proceed arise from a restricted data availability and a language and interaction barrier between researchers of different disciplines (in particular experiment and theory).

In this white paper the QG phenomenology community summarizes and highlights paths to advance and improve the search for QG effects. The overall purpose of this white paper is to outline the future phenomenological and experimental research of QG with astrophysical data.

We address some of the most promising observational windows to scales where we

expect QG effects to set in, where we focus on selected effects caused by violations, deviations or modifications from Lorentz invariance, since these leave observables traces well below the Planck scale and are, if present, in reach of being either detected or falsified by multi-messenger astronomy observations in the near future. Moreover, we identify the necessary conditions for realistically boosting these searches with present and future facilities. Even more importantly, we aspire to stimulate developments of novel methods for searches for signatures of QG. Given that at this point there are no facilities designed for this specific purpose, and experimental tests are usually performed as side projects, we particularly hope to motivate a development of dedicated experiments, and that this white paper can be used as a road map in such endeavours. Surely, this white paper cannot cover all the aspects of the search for QG so we focus on selected promising prospects of QG searches in multi-messenger astronomy.

The structure of the article is the following. First, in section 2, we present a discussion on which kind of effects emerge from different approaches to QG that are most promising to look for. In the following section 3, we identify the experimental requirements needed to unambiguously identify the presence or absence of these effects in observational data. Here, it is important to find a way to distinguish between QG and competing effects. This section serves as preparation to propose dedicated new experiments in section 4 in order to search for QG. In section 5, it is argued how to handle data availability is important for good scientific progress. Finally, in section 6 we summarize our discussion and conclude.

2. What effects are we looking for?

There are numerous effects which emerge from theoretical models of quantum gravity. We discuss the general philosophy about quantum spacetimes in section 2.1, before we highlight time delay effects, caused by the propagation of particles and fields on quantum spacetime in section 2.2, and interaction effects caused by the interaction of particles and fields on quantum spacetime in section 2.3.

2.1. Quantum fluctuating spacetime ("foam")

Despite the absence of a generally accepted framework of QG, various candidate models seem to converge on the idea that, due to fundamental quantum uncertainties, the microstructure of spacetime should be viewed as a dynamical entity fluctuating over distances of the order of Planck length $\ell_{\rm P}$ and time scales of the order of Planck time $t_{\rm P}$. This idea, originally introduced by Wheeler [18], further developed by Hawking [19], and popularized by Wheeler again [20], implies that, if such fluctuations are large enough to induce non-trivial deformations of the classical, smooth spacetime, the latter would develop a "foamy" structure at the ultra-microscopic level, with all manners of geometrically and topologically nontrivial structures being formed (e.g. via quantum tunnelling [21]), evolving, interacting and lasting only a few Planck times. Closely related to this *spacetime foam* is the idea of *emergent gravity*, by which the classical continuous gravitational field is not fundamental, but instead emerges as a sort of collective effect (valid in the low-energy regime) from this spacetime foam structure [22]. The natural question thus arises as to how such a transition may take place and whether there might be any observable signatures of this foamy microstructure. The experimental signatures of QG that are being searched at the moment and in the foreseeable future [23] are predictions of phenomenological toy models that try to capture only some aspects of quantum mechanics/quantum field theory and general relativity (GR), rather than robust predictions of a fundamental theory of QG [24].

2.1.1. Some specific approaches Condensed matter systems provide valuable lessons on how a geometric theory, featuring objects like curvature, torsion and nonmetricity, can arise as the continuum limit of some more fundamental theory, on which the metric and affine connection would represent some collective degrees of freedom. These geometric objects are crucial to capture the existence of microscopic defects [25], which endow such systems with non-trivial topologies. Indeed, the discrete microstructure of certain materials (such as graphene) may behave in the continuum limit as emergent geometries, allowing the propagation of quantum fields on top of them [26]. Gravitational theories with independent metric and affine structures naturally accommodate underlying foam-like structures and they can be excited via gravitational collapse [27]. At the effective level, one could build new gravitational theories based on the curvature/torsion/nonmetricity trio, such as f(R) [28], f(T) [29] and f(Q) [30], connecting different implementations of this transition from the hypothetical foamy microworld to observational signatures in the macroworld.

There are two other key influential concepts developed in the literature. The holographic conjecture based on quantum entanglement and emergent spacetime [31–34] and the entropic interpretation of emergent gravity [35]. Other examples include continuous emergent microstructures [36], where gravity emerges from the symmetry breaking of a principal SO(4) bundle, or from a complex system of N interacting particles with O(N) symmetry, which is governed by quantum mechanics [37], or from gauge symmetry principles [38]. Spin foams [39] and fractal-based ideas [40] also have their share in this discussion.

In minimal-length models, foamy effects come from the presence of a minimal accessible length [41], which modifies the Heisenberg or Poincaré algebra to accommodate a minimal uncertainty in position measurements at the Planck scale. In phenomenological models of quantum mechanics, the minimal length appears as a kinematic feature [42], while the shape itself of the Hamiltonian may be deformed from the combined action of a modified position-momentum algebra and the choice of a relativity principle [43, 44]. On the other hand, by equipping this framework to the standard quantum mechanical scenario with a stochastic nature, it is possible to mimic the foamy structure of spacetime in the non-relativistic regime and analyse potential experimental implications [45].

2.1.2. Some specific effects Given the large variety of conceptual implementations of the transition of the spacetime foam to the macroscopic world, specific effects studied in the literature come in many shapes, of which we list several ones here:

- Preferred frame effects, implementing deviations from the fact that the laws of Physics to be the same for all inertial frames, appear from theories implementing violations of Lorentz invariance, referred to as Lorentz invariance violation (LIV) theories. They have been extensively tested [46].
- Time delays (section 2.2) and modified particle interactions (2.3) may appear not only from LIV theories, but also from doubly special relativity (DSR) theories, where Lorentz invariance is replaced by another symmetry principle (deformed Lorentz transformations) [47] caused assuming a second observer-independent quantity (in addition to the usual light speed), namely, a high-energy scale, usually associated to the Planck scale.
- A non-trivial subluminal vacuum refractive index suppressed by the inverse Planckscale mass [48]. This can be caused by foamy effects that lead to a modified dispersion relation (MDR) for particles and fields propagating on the foamy spacetime

$$\boldsymbol{p}^2 = F(E, m, \boldsymbol{p}^2, E_{\rm P}), \qquad (1)$$

where $E_{\rm P}$ is the Planck length, E the particle's energy, m denotes a mass parameter, and the function F encodes the MDR. It be obtained from a generalized uncertainty principle [41], LIV theories [46], DSR theories [49], or more fundamental approaches with minimal length that lead to one of the phenomenological models [50]. Equation (1) represents a spontaneous breaking of the Lorentz symmetry by the ground state of foamy models.

A competing theoretical mechanism that can cause a cosmic vacuum refractive index is associated with certain exotic models of dark matter [51, 52]. They can be distinguished from spacetime foam models through the specific dependence of the refractive index on the photon frequency and the emergence or non-emergence of birefringence [53].

- Birefringence (different propagation speeds for each light polarization) from QG spacetime with a polymer-like structure at microscales in loop quantum gravity [54]. Such effect can be caused by mass-dimension five operators in the effective field theory extension of the QED sector of the Standard Model [55], by a non-minimal coupling between the electromagnetic potential and curvature from renormalization of QED on curved spacetime [56], by the SME extension of the electromagnetic sector [57] or by premetric electrodynamics in general [58]. Birefringence effects are further discussed in section 3.2.1.
- Stochastic effects in the velocity of light that lead to a spread of a photon pulse varying linearly with the photon frequency [59], induced by space-time from *D*-particles. This effect needs to be contrasted to the corresponding effects induced

by the QG-induced refractive index (1), which lead to a frequency-independent spread. Such effects can also be constrained by similar observations as the QG-induced refractive-index effect.

- Alternatives to particle dark matter models in emergent gravity induced by modifications to the gravitational law via entanglement entropy [60].
- Induced triple [61] and higher-order interference [62] in the context of "gravitization of quantum theory" [63].
- Decoherence and breakdown of unitarity effects, particularly those leading to CPT violations [64] and neutrino decoherence from light-cone fluctuations [65].
- Broadening of spectral lines from foamy spacetime fluctuations [66].
- QG-induced stochastic LIV effects of generic fuzzy space times [67].
- Modifications of the waveform and the dispersion relation of gravitational waves due to polymer quantization, leading to a frequency dependence of the speed of the propagation of the waves [68].
- Variations of the speed of light, different dispersion relations between particles and antiparticles, and matter–antimatter lepton symmetry can be caused by *D*-brane models [69] with bosons [70] and fermions [71] that lead to local effective spacetime metric distortions.
- Connection between QG and the metaparticle concept [72] as well as the concepts of Born geometry and Born reciprocity [73].
- Modifications to the properties of neutron stars such as masses-radius relations, limiting masses (e.g. white dwarf to neutron star) and moments of inertia (see the review [74]), among others, features all accessible to different observational probes.
- Modified estimates on the dark matter budget due to the quantum fluctuations of the spacetime metric due to stringy foam-like structures involving spacetime *D*-particle defects [75, 76].

On the other hand, specific effects of these models have been searched for using different observational channels:

- Using the Kilo-Degree Survey (KiDS) and the Galaxy And Mass Assembly (GAMA) survey [77], consistency of Verlinde's emergent gravity with weak gravitational lensing of low-redshift galaxies due to the displacement of dark energy by baryonic matter could be demonstrated.
- High-energy photons from, e.g., gamma-ray burst (GRB) and blazar [78] are used to constrain light speed variation with energy (suppressed by a power of the string mass scale) foam via MDRs of the form (1) [79] and non-trivial refractive index [48, 53], see also section 2.2. Constraints from birefringent effects and photon decays are consistent with this foamy scenario. Moreover, using specific GRBs, constraints on stochastic LIV effects of generic fuzzy space times could be found exhibiting Planck-scale sensitivity [67]. These results set a benchmark constraint to be reckoned with by any QG model that features spacetime quantization.

- Gravitational lensing and black hole shadows can be used to constrain a non-trivial refractive index of spacetime and MDRs [80–82].
- Null tests on foamy effects based on cumulative effects over distant sources from X-ray and GRB observations [83].
- Interferometric search for foamy effects, allowing to place constraints on specific implementations [84, 85].
- Dedicated interferometers can in principle measure pacetime flusctuations that accumulate along the lightcone directions [86].
- The cosmic microwave background (CMB) [87] and Big Bang nucleosynthesis [88] yield bounds on the baryon asymmetry that can be translated into bounds for *D*-brane models [69–71].

In summary, the spacetime foam idea, being a subset of the larger field of QG phenomenology, suffers from the same fundamental difficulty, namely, the impossibility to directly test its effects at the Planck scale. There are, however, two generic effects that have been widely studied in the literature, namely, time delays in the propagations of cosmic messengers, and modifications of the kinematics of their interactions, which we discuss next in sections 2.2 and 2.3 in more detail. We then identify possibilities how to detect these effects in future search strategies in section 4.

2.2. Time delays in the propagation of cosmic messengers

Time delays emerge already from the classical interaction between gravity and particles and fields propagating in vacuum that is described by the general relativistic geometry of spacetime. In this section, we briefly recall this classical achromatic vacuum time delay effects, that are already predicted by GR, before examining additional energydependent (generally four-momentum dependent) time delays, due to microscopic quantum fluctuations or foaminess of spacetime (see section 2.1), which are widely discussed in the literature of QG and its phenomenology. Then, we highlight the main challenges and difficulties in the search for such QG-induced time delays.

2.2.1. Classical time delays Even in the absence of QG effects, the gravitational interaction causes vacuum time delays in the propagation of photons of any frequency and other cosmic messengers through spacetime, compared to their propagation in the absence of gravity. The most famous instance of this fact, which has been experimentally observed and actually constitutes one of the Solar-System tests of Einstein's GR, is the Shapiro delay [89]: the observation that the travel time of a radar signal between two points in the vicinity of a gravitating object is increased compared to the travel time of the signal in the absence of the object. It is important to stress that the Shapiro delay is "achromatic", in the sense that it does not depend on the energy or polarization of the photon. In general, we gather large amounts of information about the gravitational interaction based on the observation of cosmic messengers propagating

through spacetime and eventually being detect by us. Thus, in the pertinent data analyses of telescopes observing cosmic messengers, it is of utmost importance to take into account the classical – and possibly the yet unknown additional QG-induced – vacuum time delay effects, in order to interpret the observations correctly. Famous examples where the classical time delays are already implemented in the data analysis are pulsar timing observations [90, 91] as well as cosmological redshift and distance observations [92]. Pictorially, the time delay effects can be understood in the sense that gravity acts as a certain effective refractive medium for light propagation, thus introducing an effective refractive index [93]. On the basis of Maxwell's electrodynamics and Einstein's GR, the predictions for the classical time delays are independent of the energy (frequency) and of the polarisation of the photons, as a consequence of the Einstein equivalence principle [94], which states that locally, that is, within an appropriately small region in the neighbourhood of each spacetime point, the weak equivalence principle and local Lorentz invariance holds, meaning that physics is described by special relativity (SR). In what follows we refer to this feature as *local Lorentz symmetry.* Due to the universal coupling with gravity, such GR-induced time delays do not only affect the propagation of light, but also all other standard model particles and fields including neutrinos [95] and, due to its self interaction, gravitational waves [96, 97].

The above examples from classical gravity clearly demonstrate that (achromatic and polarization independent) time delays are an important prediction of GR, which, on the one hand, allows us to test the theory, while on the other, gives us important information about the nature of the (classical) gravitational interaction, which is associated with the geometry of spacetime.

2.2.2. Possible quantum gravity-induced time delays In addition to the general relativistic, achromatic and polarisation independent time delays discussed so far, time delays resulting from purely quantum effects of gravity might emerge. In contrast to the classical effects, they might depend on the energy and the polarisation of the probe, for the the following reason. Highly energetic particles and fields will interact with gravity on smaller length scales than low energetic ones. It is expected that the smaller the length scale which the particles and fields probe, i.e. the higher their energy, the more the particles and fields are affected by quantum vacuum fluctuations of gravity or spacetime foam, see also the discussion in section 2.1. Effectively, this scenario can be described as particles and fields propagating through a (refractive) medium generated by vacuum fluctuations of gravity, capturing aspects of a quantum spacetime or spacetime foam. The mathematical description of this pictorial idea has been further developed within various formal and phenomenological frameworks of QG.

One intensively studied way to mathematically describe the interaction between particles and fields and the QG "environment" (the effective medium or effective description of quantum spacetime) is to employ MDRs, which the four-momentum of the point-like particle excitations of the fields must satisfy. Such MDRs can be determined from fundamental approaches to QG by studying the propagation of fields (for example electromagnetic and gravitational waves), in string theory, loop quantum gravity, asymptotic safety or non-commutative geometry, it can be implemented phenomenologically [9] or be described geometrically [98–100].

A famous example of this type of QG-induced time delays that is actively searched for, [101, 102], is the delay in the arrival time (at a local observatory) of gamma rays of different energies [59, 103] which, however, are assumed to be emitted simultaneously, and at the same location in the universe. The predictions for the time delays differ depending on the particular QG framework considered and MDR employed (see [9, Sec. 5.1] for an extended discussion). The first time delay derived in the context of a MDR of the form

$$E^{2} = \boldsymbol{p}^{2} \left[1 \pm \left(\frac{E}{E_{\rm QG}} \right)^{n} \right] \tag{2}$$

for photons in a flat ($\Omega_k = 0$) expanding universe with scale factor a(t), matter density Ω_m , and dark energy density Ω_{Λ} [59, 104], predicts a time-of-arrival delay Δt between a low-energy and a high-energy photon emitted by a bursting source like a a GRB at redshift z, as function of the energies E_0, E_1 of the detected photons, to be

$$\Delta t_{\rm GRB-QG} = \pm \frac{1+n}{2H_0} \frac{(E_0^n - E_1^n)}{E_{\rm QG}^n} \int_0^z \frac{(1+z')^n}{\sqrt{\Omega_{\rm m}(1+z')^3 + \Omega_{\Lambda}}} \,\mathrm{d}z'.$$
 (3)

Here H_0 is the Hubble parameter today, $E_{\rm QG}$ the QG energy scale, and *n* the order of modification in the dispersion relation of photons. Since this first derivation, different time delay scenarios have been studied in the context for QG phenomenology with Lorentz invariance deformation and violation [105, 106] and can be scrutinized by observations.

As in the classical coupling between gravity and the Standard Model fields, such energy-dependent time delays, possibly even of different magnitude, are also expected for messengers other than photons, such as neutrinos [95, 107] and gravitational waves. An important point we would like to stress is that, despite the extreme weakness of QG effects, nonetheless they could be significantly enhanced in cosmological situations, for example in searches for arrival time delays of probes that have travelled cosmological distances. Such huge distances can amplify the extremely small quantum effects to a point of being potentially observable.

So far, QG-induced time delays have not been observed in nature. Having said that, though, we also point out that there are no dedicated experimental setups optimized to search specifically for such a time delays.

2.2.3. Theoretical challenges The aim to detect and interpret time delays correctly faces theoretical and experimental challenges. Here we will discuss the theoretical ones, while the experimental difficulties will be discussed in section 3.2.1.

Energy-dependent time delays would imply the existence of deviations from local Lorenz invariance. This would imply a modification of the causal structure of spacetime, together with a possible alteration of the notion of light-cones and the description of observers and their measurements. Each of these modifications or the conjunction of all of them may drastically impact the observability of any kind of time delay linked to the quantum regime of gravity.

A particularly important challenge is the distinction between violation and deformation of local Lorentz invariance. In other words, either the LIV implies the existence of a preferred reference frame, or the Lorentz group is replaced by the notion of spacetime and observer symmetry (DSR). Both, the absence or the detection of any kind of time delay can be used as a guiding principle to identify the scale and the type of deviations from local Lorentz symmetry. Whether this happens effectively at an intermediate length/energy scale or at the fundamental QG scale is unclear and depends on the theoretical approach under consideration. We would like to point out that for effects below the natural QG scale it is also important to distinguish between QG time delays and time delays due to a possible non-minimal coupling between curvature and electromagnetism, that might emerge due to renormalisation of QED on curved spacetime [56].

It is often assumed that the QG scale, at which time delay effects become important, is the Planck scale of $E_{\rm P} \approx 10^{28}$ eV. However, such conclusions may be premature, since it is highly-model dependent. Even though some experiments exhibit sensitivities that for some processes exceed the Planck energy scale, the effective energy scale ($E_{\rm QG}$) governing the time delays is often characterized by a combination of the Planck scale and further parameters of the theoretical QG model under consideration. This has, for example, been pointed out in [53, 108] for certain models of spacetime foam stemming from string/brane theory (see section 2.1). There, the effective energy scale which characterizes such delays is a combination of the QG (or string) mass scale divided by the linear (possibly redshift dependent) density of the spacetime defects encountered by the particle during its propagation. The observed time delays will also depend on the spacetime location of the source and one should consider combinations of searches at various redshifts, in order to constrain the effect properly and possibly separate it from other phenomena.

Yet further complications in the interpretation of possible time delays are systematic errors. Some of them might be related to the underlying cosmological model, which strongly influences the interpretation of the observed particle propagation. For instance, in modified gravity models that promote the cosmological constant Λ to a time-varying field to model dynamical dark energy, time delays are subject to systematic deviations from the classical Λ CDM model. These may manifest themselves in the magnitude and type of time delays of messengers from sources and phenomena at high redshift such as GRBs, active galactic nuclei (AGNs), or for strong lensing.

The interpretation of a detection or the absence of a time delay signal in gamma rays, gravitational lensing images, pulsar timing, neutrinos or gravitational waves from an astrophysical event of interest, requires the knowledge about competing effects which might mimic a propagation time delay, as discussed in section 3.

There are various competing models for the production of the different messengers. Additionally, classical propagation effects and time delays need to be taken into account. All of them depend on the underlying theory of gravity and the resulting cosmological model. These uncertainties about the source-intrinsic and classical propagation effects translate to less stringent constraints on the QG-induced time delay of interest and pose a major challenge in the identification of a signal. However, a smoking gun signal, which is in principle capable of disentangling source-intrinsic from propagation time delays, is a redshift dependence of the expected delays predicted by different models.

If the QG-induced time delays exist, they will not only manifest themselves in the observation of astrophysical sources but also in the interaction between gravity and quantum systems, such as Bose–Einstein condensates [109, 110]. The advantage of using laboratory-sized quantum systems as sensors for QG effects lies on the fact that they are highly controllable and can run over long time periods, which leads to high sensitivity. Such control is a qualitative improvement compared to the extraterrestrial cosmic observations with their inherited uncontrollable uncertainties regarding the state of the physical system under observation.

The challenge for detection based on quantum systems is to amplify the QG effect over the time span of the experiment, such that it becomes detectable, or to increase the measurement sensitivity, in order to probe the desired effect.

In summary, it is known that gravity causes certain types of vacuum time delays. The search for additional, yet undetected energy-dependent time delays caused by potential QG effects can be an important step in finding evidences of a theory of QG. Thus, it is crucial to devise future dedicated experiments to address such a possibility both in an astrophysical context and in that of the more controllable Earth-based experiments. These two regimes complement each other, in the sense that they probe QG time delays on different scales, which have different systematic uncertainties.

2.3. Modifications of the kinematics of interactions of cosmic messengers

Sufficiently energetic cosmic messengers, such as UHECRs and gamma rays, are expected to undergo interactions with the intergalactic medium affecting their observable properties. MDRs of elementary particles could bring changes to the kinematics of these processes, for example by raising or lowering the minimum energy threshold above which an interaction is allowed by the conservation of four-momentum, introducing an upper threshold above which the process becomes forbidden, or even allowing new processes which in the Lorentz-invariant theory should be forbidden altogether [111]. The study of the appearance, disappearance, or shifting of the threshold energies of processes with respect to their values in SR is called the study of "anomalous thresholds".

When studying threshold anomalies, it is very important to distinguish two scenarios: LIV and DSR. Both lead to different predictions. While LIV is usually only introduced at the level of in-vacuo dispersion relations, modified by a high-energy

scale $E_{\rm QG}$ (usually taken as the Planck scale), DSR scenarios supplement the MDR by deformed relativistic symmetries, usually called deformed Lorentz transformations. In the DSR case, in order to ensure covariance of the energy and momentum conservation laws, these also undergo a compatible deformation. For example, the kinematics of a process $A + B \rightarrow C + D$ are characterized by spelling out the MDRs of (1) and the energy and momentum conservation laws as

$$m_i^2 = E_i^2 - \boldsymbol{p}_i^2 + f(E_i, \boldsymbol{p}_i, m_i, E_{\text{QG}}) \qquad (i = A, B, C, D),$$
(4)

$$\boldsymbol{p}_A \oplus \boldsymbol{p}_B = \boldsymbol{p}_C \oplus \boldsymbol{p}_D, \qquad E_A \oplus E_B = E_C \oplus E_D,$$
(5)

where the function f specifies the in-vacuo MDR and the \oplus symbol describes the deformed four-momentum composition. In the LIV case, one would keep the fourmomentum conservation as in SR, i.e. the \oplus is simply the usual addition +. All the deformations in the DSR and LIV cases disappear when the QG scale $E_{\rm QG}$ goes to infinity (or, alternatively, in the limit where Lorentz invariance is fully preserved by QG).

A most relevant example for phenomenological applications is electron-positron pair production from the interaction of very high-energy photons with low-energy photons, such as those from the CMB and extragalactic background light (EBL). The LIV and DSR threshold energies $E_{\rm th}$ for this process differ already at leading order, and can be written as deviation from the SR threshold $E_{\rm th}^{\rm SR}$ as

$$E_{\rm th}^{\rm LIV} \approx \frac{m_e^2}{\epsilon} \left(1 + \alpha \frac{m_e^4}{\epsilon^3 E_{\rm QG}} \right) = \left(1 + \alpha \frac{m_e^2}{\epsilon^2} \frac{E_{\rm th}^{\rm SR}}{E_{\rm QG}} \right) E_{\rm th}^{\rm SR},\tag{6}$$

$$E_{\rm th}^{\rm DSR} \approx \frac{m_e^2}{\epsilon} \left(1 + \beta \frac{m_e^2}{\epsilon E_{\rm QG}} \right) = \left(1 + \beta \frac{E_{\rm th}^{\rm SR}}{E_{\rm QG}} \right) E_{\rm th}^{\rm SR},\tag{7}$$

respectively [112], where ϵ is the energy of the background photon and α and β are real parameters characterizing the deformations (in the Lorentz-invariant case, $\alpha = \beta = 0$). For positive α and β , the threshold is higher, so the universe is more transparent to highenergy radiation, while the converse holds when α or β would be negative. The quantity m_e^2/ϵ^2 (ranging from O(10¹¹) for visible EBL photons to O(10¹⁸) for CMB photons) is an amplifier for the new physics effect, which makes the LIV prediction much stronger than the DSR one. Therefore, while in the DSR case the modification of the threshold is only appreciable when the energy is close to the high-energy scale characterizing the correction to the kinematics, in the LIV case the correction can be substantial at much lower energies. For this reason, only threshold anomalies in the LIV framework are usually studied, except for the case of DSR parameterized by a high-energy scale much lower than the Planck mass [113].

Threshold anomalies can be seen as kinematic modifications of the SR description of interactions, and indeed, it is usually the only effect that is modelled to estimate the phenomenological consequences of LIV or DSR on the interactions of cosmic messengers [101, 114]. However, the decay rates or cross sections of a process in LIV or DSR scenarios may differ from the standard ones even at energy ranges where the process is allowed in both, SR and its modifications, which may be important for effects such as the possible modification of the transparency of the universe to high-energy gamma rays. The LIV scenario has been explored in the past, but the availability of results for cross sections or decay rates is limited [115–117]. For the DSR scenario, changes in the cross sections or decay rates may only play a role in the case of a QG energy scale much lower than the Planck one, comparable to the energies of cosmic messengers. While such dynamical calculations can be carried our for the LIV case in the framework of effective field theory, the DSR scenario still lacks a well-defined dynamical approach. In fact, an appropriate framework for DSR should also address some of its known theoretical ambiguities, such as the soccer-ball problem [118–122], the spectator problem [123–126], or issues with momentum labelling [122, 127, 128], whose resolution may require a novel perspective on DSR [129]. Consequently, the implications of threshold anomalies in DSR remain largely unexplored, for which it will be necessary to develop new approaches and techniques [113].

In the following we highlight specific hadronic, electromagnetic and weak interaction processes which are most promising to detect LIV or DSR threshold anomalies in the future. We briefly discuss the challenges that need to be attacked in order to detect these deviations from local Lorentz invariance.

2.3.1. Hadronic processes (affecting cosmic rays) UHECRs at the highest energies can undergo interactions with background photons, such as pion photoproduction and (for nuclei heavier than protons) photodisintegration. This introduces interaction horizons, i.e. a maximum distance from which cosmic rays above a given energy can be observed. Moreover, such interactions may produce fluxes of cosmogenic neutrinos and photons. Both these effects can be altered by LIV in the hadronic sector [130-134], so that UHECR observations could in principle be used to test LIV scenarios. Unfortunately, as discussed in section 3.1, several uncertainties about the sources and propagation of UHECRs complicate the interpretation of the UHECR energy spectrum and mass composition at Earth in terms of those escaping their source environment. Furthermore, the most recent such studies [135–138] suggest that the spectral shape at the sources is harder than what is predicted by the Fermi mechanism, and that at the highest energies UHECRs are increasingly heavy nuclei, escaping their sources with Lorentz factors near or below the threshold for pion photoproduction. This substantially reduces their sensitivity to LIV effects, as well as the production rates of cosmogenic neutrino and photons, compared to the case of protons with the same energy. On the other hand, the presence of a non-negligible proton fraction at the highest energies can still not be fully ruled out by the most recent data, and it could be tested in the future with the aim of increasing the constraining power of the UHECR spectrum and composition data, as will be mentioned in section 4.3.

Another aspect to be explored regarding the hadronic sector is the development of the cascade of particles in the atmosphere after the first cosmic-ray interaction (extensive air shower), as discussed later in the final paragraphs of section 3.2.2.

2.3.2. Electromagnetic processes (affecting gamma rays) A superluminal LIV scenario would allow photon decay in vacuum; the detection of PeV-energy photons leads to very restrictive constraints on the LIV energy scale for such a scenario [139]. A subluminal scenario can lead to an increase of the energy threshold of the photon-photon interaction $\gamma\gamma \rightarrow e^-e^+$ [114], and hence to an increase of the transparency of the universe to gamma rays, especially at energies $\gtrsim 10$ TeV, thus potentially allowing the detection of sources at greater distances (see e.g. [140, 141]). However, using the current imaging atmospheric Cherenkov telescopes (IACTs), no evidence for such LIV effects has been detected. Such effects may be within reach of the future Cherenkov Telescope Array (CTA), with its significantly improved sensitivity and extended energy range, therefore providing unique tests of QG phenomenology. That being said, one should keep in mind that CTA, just as any other gamma-ray observatory, was not designed specifically to search for signatures of QG as a primary goal, and that a dedicated experiment might be necessary to detect LIV, or rule out a significant portion of the parameter space. At gammaray energies of a few hundred TeV and above, the target background radiation is the CMB. In that regime, the anomalous absorption effect could be tested with water and hybrid Cherenkov detectors, such as the High-Altitude Water Cherenkov Observatory (HAWC) [142], Large High Altitude Air Shower Observatory (LHAASO) [143], or the planned Southern Wide-field Gamma-ray Observatory (SWGO) [144]. The Pierre Auger Observatory is the most sensitive photon detector at EeV (10^{18} eV) energies [145], and the non-observation of photons at such energies can be used to set limits on LIV in the photon sector under certain assumptions about UHECR sources [134, 146].

DSR scenarios do not allow photon decays, so limits on the decay rate cannot constrain them. However, besides the time delays discussed in section 2.2, a more complex behaviour in the interaction of high-energy photons with the background can arise. For instance, one can find the expected flux to increase at lower energies but decrease at higher energies [113].

Possible imprints of LIV extensions of the Standard Model on the (inverse) Compton scattering effect is likely to be of paramount importance for the production of non-thermal gamma rays in the GeV–TeV range in many astrophysical sources, including GRBs and blazars. Preliminary investigations show that such effects are plausibly only becoming discernible at \sim PeV energies, where it could possibly lead to a suppression of Klein–Nishina effects [141]. However, since at such energies the Compton cross section is already much smaller than the Thomson limit, this effect is unlikely to show any measurable signatures with astrophysical gamma-ray sources.

2.3.3. Weak processes (affecting neutrinos) In the standard SR scenario, in subluminal LIV scenarios and in DSR scenarios, neutrinos can travel cosmologically long distances, being possibly subject to time delays, see section 2.2 and [107], with negligible probability of undergoing any interactions, but in a superluminal LIV scenario sufficiently energetic neutrinos (e.g. with $E \gtrsim 10$ TeV or 100 PeV for a linear or quadratic Planck-scale LIV, respectively) can undergo weak decays in vacuum such as electron–

positron or neutrino–antineutrino pair emission [116, 147]. The rates of such processes can depend on the energy so strongly that the decay is nearly instantaneous for neutrinos above a certain energy and almost negligible below this energy. This effective threshold of dynamical origin may be the relevant one for the study of a particle reaction or a decay process, depending on whether it is higher or lower than the kinematic threshold.

For example, the kinematic energy threshold of electron-positron pair emission $(\nu \rightarrow \nu e^- e^+)$ by superluminal neutrinos (with a MDR as Eq. (2), with the plus sign, in the massless limit), is $E_{\rm th} = (4m_e^2 E_{\rm QG}^n)^{1/(2+n)}$, where $E_{\rm QG}$ and n are respectively the energy scale and the order that parameterize the LIV correction, of order $\mathcal{O}(E^n/E_{\text{QG}}^n)$ for a neutrino energy E, whereas neutrino-antineutrino pair emission $(\nu \to \nu \nu \bar{\nu})$, also known as neutrino splitting, has a negligible threshold (zero in the limit of a massless neutrino). The general expression of the decay width for these processes is $\Gamma_{\nu_f \to X}(E) \propto E^5 (E/E_{\rm QG})^{3n}$ [116], where the proportionality coefficient depends on the initial neutrino flavour f, the final-state particles X, and on the order nof the correction. This allows us to define an energy scale $E_{\rm th}^{\rm eff}$ for each process such that $\Gamma = H_0 (E/E_{\rm th}^{\rm eff})^{5+3n}$, where H_0 is the present-day Hubble constant. Owing to the large value of the exponent (5 + 3n), the decay width is $\Gamma \gg H_0$ for neutrino energies $E > E_{\rm th}^{\rm eff}$ and $\Gamma \ll H_0$ at lower energies, which is the reason why $E_{\rm th}^{\rm eff}$ acts as an effective dynamical threshold for the reaction to proceed. While this dynamical threshold is very relevant for the neutrino–antineutrino emission, in the case of the electron–positron emission the kinematic threshold is the most relevant one for values of the scale of the deformation below the Planck scale [148].

In contrast, in a DSR or subluminal LIV scenario, no new effects in the propagation would become possible, but effects on the processes in which neutrinos are produced (such as pion decay) could still exist. For example, changes in the pion lifetime through LIV effects could induce a modification of the muon neutrino spectra in IceCube [149].

Note that neutrino splitting modifies the flavour composition of astrophysical neutrinos in the superluminal scenario, even if the LIV term is diagonal in neutrino flavour space. On the other hand, non-diagonal LIV terms affect neutrino oscillations in general [150], modifying the flavour composition of astrophysical neutrinos at Earth. The search for effects in this direction has just begun recently [95].

In summary, models of QG leading to LIV and DSR scenarios lead to modified threshold interactions, whose trace can be detected experimentally. It is important to study the different cases since they lead to different magnitudes of the effects. Often the DSR effects are lower compared to the LIV effects. A dedicated experiment searching for such effects should be able to distinguish the two cases.

3. Astrophysical modelling and experimental requirements

In this section, we discuss the experimental requirements for searches of signatures of QG in astrophysical observations. A definitive feature of research using astrophysical observations is the impossibility of controlling the source of the signal and the medium

between the source and the detector. The limited knowledge of these is an important source of systematic uncertainties. Moreover, there are other competing effects which could mimic or deprecate new physics effects. Some of these are known, e.g. secondary particles which are not emitted directly from the source yet cannot be resolved from the primary particles. Others could be hypothetical different parts of new physics affecting each other, e.g. new particles effects such as interactions, productions or decays involving axion-like particles. The importance of modelling of astrophysical sources, and the medium through which messengers propagate is discussed in section 3.1. Specifically we focus on the modelling of their emission in section 3.1.1, their interaction with background radiation fields like EBL and CMB in section 3.1.2, their interaction with astrophysical obstacles in section 3.1.3 and their interaction with possible further intergalactic impediments in section 3.1.4. We also discuss the uncertainties introduced by these, as well as how those uncertainties might be reduced.

Another essential ingredient is the advancement of experimental setups. This could be achieved through improvements of existing observational equipment or techniques, or by introducing entirely new measurement and analysis methods. Experimental requirements for performing and improving the searches for signatures of QG are discussed in section 3.2. In section 3.2.1 we focus on the detection of effects the messengers experience while propagating through vacuum. Namely, we discuss time delays, as introduced in section 2.2 and birefringence caused by LIV. In section 3.2.2 we discuss requirements for detecting effects resulting from interaction anomalies. The detection of QG effects in diffuse fluxes of UHECRs, photons, and neutrinos, as well as in neutrino oscillations, and during the development of atmospheric showers, each require different experimental specifications for their detection and are, therefore, discussed separately.

This white paper, while aimed at a wider audience, was also composed by researchers working in different fields of research of QG phenomenology. Through the process, we realised that certain terms, commonly in use in one research field, are not as clear, or even have a different meaning in other fields. Therefore, we explain the meaning of the following two notions:

Sensitivity to some observable indicates how accurately and precisely some observable can be measured with a certain instrument or method. In the case of QG energy scale, which has not been detected and only lower limits are being set, the sensitivity means how much of the parameter space certain method can cover.

Instrumental sensitivity or detector sensitivity. In astrophysics, it refers to how low the source flux can be in order to be detected by a given detector within certain observation time. A more sensitive instrument will take less time to detect some source. Putting it the other way around, a more sensitive instrument will collect more signal within the same observation time. To investigate the potential effects of QG using cosmic messengers, it is crucial to understand how they are produced and how they propagate. Improving our ability to model the processes within the sources of cosmic messengers, as well as those affecting their propagation, is paramount for increasing the sensitivity of QG experiments. Ideally, we would need to know the precise energy and emission time of every single particle at the source. This is, of course, unfeasible. However, a precise multiwavelength modelling of the source-intrinsic flux, including its polarisation properties and its flavour content, as well as spectral correlation between different energy bands, would significantly increase the sensitivity to the QG energy scale.

A notable case are GRBs, whose long-duration population generally feature spectral lags, in contrast to the sort-duration ones (see e.g. [151] and references therein). This example clearly demonstrates the importance of a close collaboration between astrophysicists working on source modelling and the broad QG phenomenology community.

3.1.1. Uncertainties from the modelling of source emission processes In [152], a detailed study of intrinsic spectral lags in flaring AGNs above 100 GeV was conducted in order to investigate whether these can be distinguished from LIV-induced time delays. The authors concluded that, while certain intrinsic spectral lags are to be expected, their magnitude can vary in time. This means that, if the intrinsic time delay between two photons of energies E_h and E_l is modelled as

$$\Delta t \propto (E_h^{\alpha} - E_l^{\alpha}),\tag{8}$$

the exponent α will not be constant in time. This is contrary to the expected QG-induced effects, as displayed in Eq. (3) in section 2.2. Although certain classes of objects like GRBs and blazars do behave differently across cosmic history [153–155], for most of the analysis it is assumed that source-intrinsic time delays do not depend on the source distance from Earth.

Precise spectral modelling at the highest energies is also crucial for testing anomalous absorption by the background fields, as described in sections 2.3.1 and 2.3.2. In [156], a LIV analysis was made on 18 spectral measurements from 6 different AGNs. In all cases a power law with exponential cutoff was assumed as the shape of intrinsic spectra. The authors investigated the systematic uncertainty introduced with this choice by also assuming a power law spectral distribution and comparing the results. While an exponential cutoff did lead to better fits to the data, it also yielded more conservative results, reducing by a factor ≤ 2 the lower limit on the QG energy scale, compared to the power law result, which is similar to the difference between using different exponential cutoff models. In [157] only one sample from the AGN Mrk 501 was analysed. In this case, a power law was assumed as the best choice for the intrinsic spectral shape, even though this sample was one of the spectra used in [156]. Furthermore, a source-intrinsic spectral upturn could mimic LIV-induced modified gamma-ray absorption. According to [157], this is the main source of uncertainty on the QG energy scale. Knowing the correct spectral shapes would remove these ambiguities and degeneracies.

3.1.2. Uncertainties from background radiation fields Understanding the propagation of messengers entails considering various matter and radiation fields that could act as targets, including the CMB, EBL, and interstellar radiation field. Uncertainties in the EBL spectrum can significantly influence the propagation of gamma rays [158–160] and UHECRs [161, 162], thereby impacting the observables relevant to any potential QG signals. Studies taking into account the UHECR propagation through the extragalactic space for reproducing the measured energy spectrum and mass composition at Earth show differences up to 3.5σ among scenarios involving different EBL models, if the standard propagation is considered [135]. The spatial distribution of the EBL, despite being fairly homogeneous and leading to discrepancies $\lesssim 1\%$ in the propagation of gamma rays [163], also represents another source of uncertainty. Fortunately, with advancements in observational techniques across different wavelengths and the employment of multiple strategies, it is anticipated that the uncertainties associated with the EBL will be mitigated in the near- and mid-future, even for high redshifts $(z \sim 6)$ [160]. Upcoming IACTs such as CTA [164] will contribute to improving this picture by a factor between 2 and 3, with respect to current facilities of this kind, for at least 800 hours of observations of selected AGNs [165].

Note, however, that Galactic sources such as pulsars are not affected by uncertainties in the EBL. In this case, the main uncertainties relate to their distance, which may vary by up to 30% [166]. This could possibly be reduced to $\sim 15\%$ thanks to recent parallax measurements from GAIA [167].

Another source of scattering targets comes from infrared radiation by dust [168], adding the interstellar radiation field to targets from EBL. However, this is a secondary effect for extragalactic sources, since the distance that the signal travels through the Milky Way is orders of magnitudes shorter compared to the overall distance from a source. In fact, even the scattering of signal from Galactic sources is considered negligible in present-day experiments. Given a relatively short distance and consequential low scattering probability, the effect is subdominant compared to the systematic effects of current facilities. Nevertheless, the interstellar radiation field may play an important role for Galactic sources, especially for sources emitting gamma rays with energies $\gtrsim 100 \text{ TeV}$ [169].

3.1.3. Uncertainties from interaction cross sections with background and magnetic fields The knowledge of cross sections for the corresponding interactions with various astrophysical targets is relevant in the search for new physical effects. This is particularly problematic for UHECRs, since photonuclear cross sections are poorly known at these high energies [161, 170–172] and can lead to discrepant interpretations of the observations [135–137, 173]. In [135] the changes in the spectral parameters for UHECRs

at the escape from the sources due to the different cross section models as well as to the different EBL models can produce differences at the level of 2σ in the fit of the UHECR spectrum and composition at Earth. These cross sections and their thresholds are the ones that change in the presence of LIV, for instance, both for UHECRs [132, 146, 174] and gamma rays [114]. In particular, since LIV modifications increase the threshold for photonuclear cross sections, photodisintegration processes are less impactful for large LIV parameters [134]. Therefore, in order to be sensitive to small deviations from SR, accurate knowledge of photonuclear cross sections and of the EBL are crucial to properly identify QG signatures using high-energy messengers.

Magnetic fields within the Milky Way and beyond can alter the trajectories of charged particles. While UHECRs are particularly susceptible to these effects [175, 176], neutrinos are not, making them reliable messengers for studies requiring directional accuracy. Gamma rays are not directly affected by magnetic fields, but the charged component of the electromagnetic cascades that they induce might be [177–180]. Although some constraints exist regarding the distribution of cosmic magnetic fields in regions such as galaxies and galaxy clusters, their characteristics in the filaments connecting clusters are less well-known [181, 182]. In cosmic voids, which dominate most of the volume of the universe, knowledge about magnetic fields is even more limited [183]. This directly translates into uncertainties in spectral, temporal, and directional observables. Future polarization surveys such as the Square Kilometre Array [184] and the Next Generation Very Large Array [185] are expected to reduce these uncertainties by increasing sample size by roughly one order of magnitude. The Galactic magnetic field, in particular, will likely be much better modelled using the upcoming data and new computational tools such as IMAGINE [186]. Fields in cosmic voids, however, will hardly be measured in this way, but gamma-ray measurements are expected to deliver better constraints [165].

If the fields are weak ($\lesssim 10^{-17}$ G), their impact on time delays and arrival directions of astroparticles should be small; if they are strong ($\gtrsim 10^{-14}$ G), this might compromise time-delay studies. For UHECRs, the average delay is typically $\sim 1.5Z$ yr for a nucleus of atomic number Z with 100 EeV coming from a source 10 Mpc away, assuming a magnetic field of strength $B \sim 1 \text{ pG}$ and coherence length of 1 Mpc. This time delay scales roughly with the inverse of the energy squared, such that a 10 EeV proton from would be delayed by over a millennium for the same magnetic field [187]. Therefore, UHECRs are generally not reliable messengers for time delay studies. Gamma rays, on the other hand, can be more reliable probes, since they could have originated from an electromagnetic cascade whose short-lived charged component is affected by magnetic fields only over scales comparable to those of inverse Compton scattering ($\sim 100 \text{ kpc}$). In this case, gamma rays observed with energies of 100 GeV from nearby sources (z < 0.05) would have time delays of $\lesssim 1$ day for $B = 10^{-18}$ G, whereas for a source at $z \simeq 0.5$ this would increase by a factor 5 [179]. Because the time delays scale with the square of the magnetic field, for $B = 10^{-15}$ G, they would exceed a century even if the sources are closeby [180]. In the case of gamma-ray observations, these uncertainties could indeed dilute the flux from a short-duration GRB over much larger time scales [188] and affect inferred intrinsic source properties [189].

3.1.4. Further uncertainties from propagation through intergalactic space Other conventional phenomena might also be at play and affect the propagation of cosmic messengers. A potentially important one that might affect gamma-ray-induced electromagnetic cascades in intergalactic space are plasma instabilities, stemming from the interaction of the electrons with the medium. The role of this effect is far from clear [190–192] and can hardly be assessed without detailed particle-in-cell simulations, which is not feasible for low-density environments such as the intergalactic medium. This could compromise the interpretation of gamma-ray observations and change the ratio between the fluxes of UHECRs and the corresponding cosmogenic photons.

UHECRs produce neutrinos and photons of cosmogenic origin during intergalactic propagation [136, 137, 193], which can act as backgrounds when studying individual astrophysical objects. Similarly, uncertainties inherent to the production of neutrinos and photons through cosmic-ray interactions in the large-scale structure of the universe such as galaxy clusters can act likewise [194–197]. Evidently, this can be mitigated by reducing uncertainties related to their progenitor cosmic rays, which is expected to happen with future UHECR facilities [198].

All the modelling uncertainties listed above have to be accounted for in searches for QG phenomena. This is, however, computationally challenging, and requires advanced software tools to scan the complete parameter space efficiently, including both conventional phenomena and QG-related ones. Existing codes, such as CRPropa [199, 200] (cosmic rays, gamma rays, neutrinos), *SimProp* [201] (cosmic rays and neutrinos), ELMAG [202] (gamma rays), GALPROP [203] (Galactic cosmic rays), among others, can be adapted for this purpose, as done in [204, 205], ultimately leading to better models for interpreting observations. Nevertheless, it remains unclear how to *efficiently* sample from this vast multi-dimensional parameter space. Some proposed strategies include, for example, using machine learning methods or deep probabilistic programming [206].

3.2. Experimental requirements

In what follows, we discuss the experimental requirements needed to improve the sensitivity of specific telescopes which are used to find some of the effects discussed in section 2. Section 3.2.1 deals with the requirements to measure propagation effects: time delays and birefringence (described in sections 2.2 and 2.1.2, respectively), while section 3.2.2 considers LIV and DSR effects coming from the interaction anomalies discussed in section 2.3, which modify the expected fluxes of UHECRs, gamma rays, and neutrinos. We will also considers effects in the development of showers in the atmosphere, which are relevant in the detection of some of the cosmic messengers.

3.2.1. Propagation effects in vacuum In this section, we will consider the two main consequences that can be associated to propagation effects: the existence of chromatic QG-induced time delays (section 2.2), which may be observable in the study of the arrival times of photons and/or neutrinos, and birefringence, an effect for photons predicted in specific frameworks within effective field theory, as indicated in section 2.1.2. Notice that time-of-flight studies concerning gravitational waves are not sensitive to Planckscale physics, given the very low energies involved [207].

Photon time delays. Time delays are one of the most prominent QG phenomenology effects, as discussed in section 2.2. Testing the energy dependence of the speed of photons relies on comparison of the detection time of individual highly energetic photons with that of lower-energy photons. The influence of QG effects on low-energy photons is usually neglected, meaning that their temporal distribution at the detection is assumed to be the same as at the emission; that of high-energy photons, on the other hand, is modified by the effects of QG. The systematic uncertainty in the detection times of individual photons (regardless of their energy) is usually negligible, as they are measured with µs accuracy.

The temporal distribution of emitted particles is usually described with a light curve template defined by several parameters. The magnitude of uncertainties of these parameters varies from case to case, and is a matter of compromise between several factors. Faster and more pronounced flux variability puts stronger constraints on the emission time: the sensitivity to the QG energy scale is inversely proportional to the variability time scale for linear (n = 1) QG effects and to its square root for quadratic (n = 2) ones [101, Table 1]. This, however, requires using shorter time bins, which results in relatively smaller number of events per bin, and, consequently, larger uncertainties. For this reason, brighter, more variable emissions are selected to study time delays. Improvement of instrumental sensitivity will directly reflect on the ability to model the emission light curves, and on the sensitivity to the QG energy scale.

The effect of time delay is linearly dependent on the photon energy both for n = 1 and n = 2 [101]. However, it is not enough to have high-energy photons in the sample. Since lower-energy photons are used as references, with the effects of QG usually neglected, and QG is expected to affect higher-energy photons more, a favourable sample will include photos with a wide range of energies. Having a narrow energy range sample, and assuming that low-energy photons are not affected by QG will introduce a strong bias towards the absence of time delay. In addition to wide energy rage, which is a characteristic of a sample, one should aim at good energy resolution, which is a characteristic of a detector, because large uncertainties in the energy reconstruction are propagated to the analysis, again reducing the ability of detecting any time delay.

Another critical factor for sensitivity to the QG energy scale, related to instrumental sensitivity, is the source distance. In [101], the sensitivity to the QG energy scale depends linearly on the redshift of the source (for extragalactic sources) for n = 1, and is proportional to the redshift to the power of 2/3 for n = 2. However, gamma

rays with energy higher than ~ 100 GeV are absorbed on background electromagnetic radiation, decreasing the total number of gamma rays reaching the detectors. Improving instrumental sensitivity cannot affect absorption on background radiation, but it can increase the rate of gamma rays detected among the ones that survive. However, it is important to mention that closer-by sources such as low-redshift AGNs and Galactic pulsars provide very competitive sensitivities and limits, as they are not affected by gamma-ray absorption at energies ≤ 100 TeV.

According to [102], systematic effects related to the light curve uncertainty spoil the sensitivity to the QG energy scale by a factor of ~ 2.3 for linear or ~ 1.5 for quadratic correction of the dispersion relation. In most cases for n = 1, the dominant systematic effect comes from the uncertainty of the light curve template parameters. This is true for most of the individual sources considered, as well as for certain type of sources combined or combination of all sources used in the study. Indeed, the variance of the template statistics constitutes more than 50% of the total systematic variance. For n = 2 this falls down to about 20%, and the contribution of the template statistics to the total systematic variance is somewhat less, but still comparable to some other sources of systematic uncertainty, such as energy scale uncertainty. In the case of pulsars, that uncertainty is greatly reduced, since only one pulse shape needs to be understood, instead of a series of complicated pulses, which reduces that systematic uncertainty to considerably less than 10% [166]. Nevertheless, modifications of pulse behaviour in the transition from curvature radiation to inverse Compton scattering of photons between 200 and 300 GeV have been observed [166]. Several competing models for very-high energy pulsar emission have been proposed [208, 209], which do include intrinsic spectral lags. Observational discrimination between these pulsar models is hence desirable for LIV searches using this technique.

Additionally, the assumption that the emission times in different energy ranges have the same distribution is a rather strong one, especially considering that intrinsic energydependent time delays have already been unambiguously detected in some GRBs [151].

Besides a precise broadband modelling of the source-intrinsic flux discussed in section 3.1, one could try developing an analysis method which does not rely on making assumptions on the distribution of events at emission.

As explained above, a specific implementation of the likelihood method that has been used so far requires a parameterization of the low energy light curve, which is the biggest source of systematic errors.

An improvement would be to find a way to implement a likelihood method directly from energies and times of detected photons, without the need to provide parametrized temporal and spectral distributions.

Several analysis methods, such as the energy cost function [210], the sharpness maximization method [211, 212], the dispersion cancellation [213], the minimal dispersion [214], among others, are based on removing the dispersion from the sample by maximizing the sharpness of the light curve. They do not depend on the explicit temporal distribution of events at the emission, and are, therefore, free of making

assumptions. However, treatment of systematic uncertainties, in particular the ones coming from instrumental effects, is not as transparent as in the likelihood approach. Moreover, these methods do not allow for a simple consideration of multiple sources in a single analysis. Retaining the likelihood approach, but removing the necessity of assuming a particular distribution of events at emission seems to be the optimal path. A so-called binned likelihood method has been presented in [215]. There is no assumption on the temporal distribution of events at emission, consequently the data sample is not split in the low and high energy bands, and the approximation of negligible influence of LIV on low energy events is not necessary. However, it is still not clear whether the method implicitly assumes equal distributions of events in lower and higher energies. Although a proper scrutiny of the method is yet to be made, it is expected that the binning of the data will make the method somewhat less sensitive to QG effects, but more robust. To summarise, improvements of the sensitivity of time of flight studies on gamma rays can be achieved by:

- enhancing detector sensitivity, which increases the statistics of samples, which in turn enables more precise emission modelling;
- improving energy resolution and widening the energy range;
- introducing novel analysis methods that are less dependant on assumptions about the distribution of events at emission.

Neutrino time delays While having at the moment a poorer statistics with respect to photons, neutrinos are potentially the most sensitive messengers for time delay studies. Unlike photons, neutrinos can travel cosmologically large distances with negligible absorption at all energies, assuming no relevant changes in threshold reactions due to LIV or DSR, which are discussed next in section 3.2.2. Moreover, source intrinsic effects are not expected to be as important as in photon time delay studies, given the considerably higher energies $[\mathcal{O}(\text{PeV})]$ reached by astrophysical neutrinos, which give much longer time delays than in the photon case.

For neutrinos of energy ~ 100 TeV coming from a source at redshift $z \sim 1$, the expected time delay with respect to low-energy signals is, according to (3) and assuming massless neutrinos, of the order of one day. For neutrinos in the PeV energy range one might expect delays of the order of tens of days.

Currently, the largest and most sensitive neutrino telescope is IceCube, which has observed neutrinos of extragalactic origin in the energy range from 60 TeV to a few PeV [216–220]. This lower bound on the energy comes from the need to disentangle the neutrino signal of astrophysical origin from background signal, such as atmospheric neutrinos [216]. The rate of these events is around 15 candidate astrophysical neutrinos per year [216], which is too low to detect more than one high-energy neutrino from a single emission event. Therefore, time delay studies cannot rely on the comparison of the time of flight of neutrinos with different energies. Rather, they rely on the comparison of the time of flight of one neutrino with a low-energy electromagnetic counterpart. So far, studies have focussed on the association of neutrino signals with GRBs, given that the latter have a time span smaller than the expected time delay effect. The identification of the electromagnetic counterpart of the neutrino signal is done by means of a directional correlation criterion. Note that one cannot associate unambiguously a given source to individual neutrino events, due to the directional uncertainty and the large neutrino energy, resulting in a large time delay expected between the neutrino and the lower energy photons. In fact, excluding the presence of any time delay effect, at the moment no associations between a high-energy neutrino and a GRB have been found. Therefore, for time delay searches, the directional association is done statistically over the whole population, similarly to what is done for searches that do not account for time delays [221]. Once the possible set of associations is identified, time delay effects are searched for by looking at the correlation between the neutrino-GRB time delay, the neutrino energy and the redshift of the source, according to (3).

Directional association is affected by the uncertainties on the neutrino reconstructed direction. Larger uncertainties result in a larger background, namely a larger number of accidental associations. Assuming a uniform distribution of GRBs in the sky, the expected number of background events scales linearly with the area covered by the direction uncertainty. Identification of the electromagnetic counterpart of the neutrino signal is also needed in order to pinpoint the redshift of the source, and thus estimate the distance travelled. The redshift measurement is currently the main source of uncertainty in these time-of-flight studies, due to the fact that for most of the GRBs the redshift is unknown [222].

Over a large population, redshift assignment can be done statistically, based on the sources for which the distance is known [223]. However, this might introduce a bias, given that the redshift distribution of GRBs with known redshift might be different from the one of GRBs with unknown redshift. For this reason, neutrino time of flight analyses would benefit greatly from improved capabilities of measuring the redshift of GRBs.

The reconstruction of the neutrino energy is based on the deposited energy in the detector. Neutrino events are usually classified as track or cascade events depending on the topology of the interaction vertex inside the detector. Charged-current muon-neutrino events have a muon as the leading visible outgoing particle in the first interaction. Since muons traverse a long distance in the ice, these are called *track* events.

These kinds of events have a good angular resolution (about 1° above TeV energies [216]), but the neutrino energy reconstruction is affected by large uncertainties, of about 30% [216], given that the event can start outside of the detector. For *cascade events* the interaction does not produce visible muon tracks. Their energy is contained completely in the "instrumented volume", so that the energy reconstruction of the neutrino is very accurate, giving an energy uncertainty of about 10% [216]. However, the topology of the interaction makes it harder to determine the incoming direction of the neutrino, so the angular resolution of these events is much lower with respect to tracks (of the order

of 10°). It is then clear that there is a trade off between energy and angular resolution: shower events optimize energy resolution at the expense of angular resolution, while the converse holds for track events. While current studies choose to focus on just one kind of events in order to have a homogeneous sample, accounting for the full probability distribution function of energy and angular information will enable all-event studies in the future.

Finally, a consistent LIV analysis of neutrino time delays should also consider the interplay between time-of-flight anomalies and the instability affecting superluminal neutrinos, as explained in section 2.3.3, which imposes strong constraints on the existence of early neutrinos exceeding an energy determined by the LIV scale [107].

The main requirements to improve the sensitivity of time of flight studies that use astrophysical neutrinos are the following:

- precise estimate of the redshift of the sources;
- improved energy reconstruction techniques for track events;
- improved techniques for reconstructing the direction of cascade events;
- increase the rate of observed neutrino events, so to allow for neutrino-neutrino time of flight studies;
- consistently introduce neutrino anomalous decays in the analyses of time delays.

Birefringence LIV effects could introduce modifications to the phase and group velocities of the circularly polarized modes of photons. When these modes have different velocities, propagation of light is subject to vacuum birefringence, which induces a rotation of the polarization direction of linearly polarized signals, or a loss of polarization degree [224–227]. To observe this effect, knowledge of the emission properties of the photon source is required. Moreover, since the degree of polarization directly depends on propagation details, the properties of the medium ought to be known. For instance, uncertainties in the magnetic field could influence the polarization through Faraday rotation.

At high energies ($E \gtrsim 1$ GeV) polarization is extremely hard to measure and virtually impossible in detectors based on electron-positron pair production (like *Fermi* and IACTs). Recently, several satellite-based gamma-ray detectors were proposed, which use both Compton scattering and pair conversion detection techniques (e-ASTROGAM [228], AMEGO [229]), enabling the measurement of polarization of gamma rays in the few MeV energy band. X-ray polarimetry has made a considerable step forward with the recent launch of Imaging X-ray Polarimetry Explorer (IXPE) [230, 231] and will likely improve even further with the upcoming eXTP [232]. Given the importance of gamma-ray polarimetry, there have been some suggestions on how to overcome these technical limitations [233, 234], in particular for the hard X-ray and soft gamma-ray bands [235].

The main requirement to improve the sensitivity of birefringence measurements would be to develop instruments capable of measuring polarization of high energetic

photons.

3.2.2. Effects from interaction anomalies Some examples of analyses are reported in the following, for some specific effects and/or messengers, examining the sensitivity requirements to detect LIV effects in point-source or diffuse fluxes, as discussed in section 2.3. We note that we will emphasize the LIV scenario in the discussion, as it is the one generally studied in the literature, but one should not forget the possible alternative DSR scenario with an energy scale much lower than the Planck scale. In this alternative scenario one would have a modification of the fluxes of different high-energy astrophysical messengers when their energy approaches the energy scale of the deformation. The requirements to be able to identify this alternative scenario would be those allowing to exclude the correlation of effects in time delays and fluxes characterizing the LIV case. Moreover, the energy dependence of the modification of the fluxes in the DSR scenario will be different from the modification in the LIV case in the energy range close to the energy scale of DSR [113]. Therefore, any improvement in the determination of the spectral flux of the different messengers would translate in an improvement in the sensitivity to effects of QG in a DSR scenario.

Effects in diffuse UHECR fluxes As mentioned in section 2.3.1, recent data suggests that cosmic rays at the highest energies are dominated by heavy nuclei, which limits their sensitivity to possible new physics effects, but the presence of a non-negligible subdominant component of protons cannot be excluded. In order to improve the constraining power of new physics, the sensitivity to the proton fraction is one of the most relevant issues. The ongoing upgrades of existing UHECR observatories and the new observatories planned for the next decades, listed in section 4.3, should have a greatly improved discrimination power between protons and heavy nuclei, and collect a much larger amount of statistics than currently available. In addition, new analysis techniques such as the ones involving deep neural networks [236, 237] can be considered for the same aims.

The requirement to observatories would be to determine the proton fraction in the region of the cutoff of the UHECR spectrum, in order to support or discard the current interpretation of the UHECR spectrum and mass data, and test the sensitivity to parameters of new physics. In parallel to the improvements of the UHECR observatories, improvements in the modelling of hadronic interactions are expected to bring benefit to the interpretation of the UHECR mass composition.

Effects in point-source or diffuse photon fluxes High-energy photons can be produced directly at the sources, resulting from leptonic processes, such as the self-synchrotron Compton mechanism, or from hadronic processes, as products of the neutral pion decay, or as subproducts of the interaction of UHECRs with the extragalactic backgrounds. These production processes, as well as the photon propagation during their path to Earth and in the atmosphere in the detection process, can be affected by LIV physics.

Although not many works have deepened in the consequences of LIV in the production of photons at the sources (but see [238] for related effects), mainly because of the complexity and uncertainties of source mechanisms, there have been some studies on LIV limits from the development of atmospheric showers [239] and many others dwell on consequences from propagation effects [101, 240–242].

Specifically, a MDR leads to a superluminal or subluminal velocity. Photon splitting and spontaneous emission put very strong constraints on a superluminal scenario from the detection of the highest energy gamma rays [139, 243, 244]. They can be based on the lack of indication of a sharp spectrum cutoff when using data from identified luminous sources [139, 244], or based on the detection of extremely high-energy single events [243, 244], like the one with energy 1.4 PeV detected by the LHAASO collaboration [245] thanks to their very good rejection capability (the probability of this event to be a non-rejected cosmic ray is estimated to be 0.028% [245]). To improve the sensitivity to LIV effects, experiments will need to feature, besides excellent rejection properties, a good energy resolution (which for LHAASO is ~ 13% at 100 TeV for showers with zenith angle less than 20° [246]), and the ability to get a good estimate of the distance travelled by the gamma rays, which translates into a very good angular resolution (around 0.8° at 10 TeV and 0.3° at 100 TeV for LHAASO [246], which is however not good enough to firmly localize and identify the sources of the detected ultra-high-energy gamma rays [245]).

The LIV effects are milder in a subluminal scenario, where there is a modulation of the energy spectra of gamma-ray sources, decreasing the absorption of gamma rays from their interaction with background photons. Constraints are usually derived in this case by comparing detected spectra with the propagation of a model for the intrinsic emission at the source in the LI and LIV cases. The essential ingredients are therefore the selection of the spectra to be used in the analysis, the model of the intrinsic spectrum, and the choice of the model of background photons affecting the gammaray propagation [241]. The best sensitivity to LIV effects requires spectra characterized by a large distance to the source and the highest possible maximum measured energy, ingenious methods of obtaining the intrinsic spectra (beyond the standard approach of using the LI attenuation at the distance of each source, which is probably too naive for LIV studies, as remarked in [241]), and improved models for the EBL, which still suffer from large uncertainties [159, 247].

As for the source fluxes, the expected flux of cosmogenic photons in the subluminal scenario is affected by the EBL modelling. In addition, cosmogenic photons depend strongly on the characteristics of the UHECRs emitted by their sources. Being mainly produced by the decay of neutral mesons, the amount of cosmogenic photons is connected to the UHECR characteristics that maximize the photo-meson production; therefore, a contribution of protons at the highest energies at the escape from UHECR sources would improve the ability to constrain LIV effects in this sector, as shown in [134]. An additional proton fraction at the sources that would increase the expected cosmogenic photon integral flux by 3 to 4 orders of magnitude at 10^{18} eV would allow

reaching the sensitivity to cosmogenic photons at current UHECR observatories at these energies.

The current sensitivity to measure photons through the atmospheric cascade of particles they produce is obtained by taking into account the standard development of showers, as for instance in [248]. If LIV effects are considered, as suggested in [249], photons might escape observation passing through the atmosphere without producing air showers. The current limits should be therefore revised taking into account these possible effects.

Effects in diffuse neutrino fluxes The expected cosmic neutrino flux is also sensitive to parameters of new physics, which could modify the propagation of neutrinos in the extragalactic space due to non-standard neutrino oscillations and neutrino decays [116, 250]. These processes could affect the expected neutrinos produced directly in the sources, as well as the cosmogenic ones, namely those produced by the cosmic rays interacting with background photons while they travel in intergalactic space. In particular, changes in flavour composition and in the neutrino flux at Earth are expected, including the possibility of a cutoff in the spectrum due to the fact that the decay probability strongly increases as the energy of the neutrino increases. The astrophysical neutrinos are sensitive to the scale of new physics responsible for changes of the flux in the energy region around 1 PeV [250]. Therefore, we expect improvements from the increase of statistics of events in that energy region from IceCube or the next-generation neutrino experiments. The cosmogenic neutrino flux is expected to be originated in the interactions of cosmic-ray particles with the CMB (contributing to the highest-energy peak of the flux) and with the EBL (contributing to the lowest-energy peak). It is shown that increasing values of the parameters of new physics manifest themselves in re-shaping the EBL or the CMB peak [204]. For experiments trying to detect cosmogenic neutrinos, the enhancement of the exposure in the energy region where the EBL peak is expected, between 10^{15} and 10^{17} eV, depending on the spectral index of the parent cosmic-ray flux at the escape from the sources [136, 137, 251], is of great relevance in order to improve the sensitivity to new-physics parameters. In fact, the expected number of neutrinos is doubled with respect to the SR case, in the range $E_{\rm QG}/M_{\rm P} < 10$ (considering a fixed scenario for the UHECR spectral parameters and for the source evolution [204]).

Effects in neutrino oscillations We do not know whether the QG-motivated effects affect the 3 known flavours of neutrinos (ν_e , ν_{μ} , ν_{τ}) differently, and one could expect they are the same for all flavours. However, astrophysical neutrino production models are asymmetric in flavours [252]. Even neutrino decays arising from a flavour-blind LIV can affect the flavour composition of astrophysical neutrinos, as indicated in section 2.3.3. Besides this, LIV-driven neutrino oscillations have been intensively studied in an effective field theory approach [253].

There are two key features we need to improve for future better sensitivity to these effects. First, the particle identification of neutrino flavour needs to be improved.

Cherenkov detectors such as IceCube and Hyper-Kamiokande discriminate the events generated by muon neutrinos from the electron neutrino signals from morphology. Different detectors (for instance, the liquid scintillator of JUNO) will need to develop experiment-specific efforts such as the time profile of the signals. The distinction between events originated by a neutrino or antineutrino is also of great relevance to discriminate between effects originating from CPT-odd or CPT-even LIV terms in the Lagrangian.

Second, energy and directional reconstruction needs to be improved for better resolution. The search for energy-dependent LIV effects requires a good energy resolution which would make possible also a better binning separation of the data. Present and future experiments such as JUNO can take advantage of their unprecedented values of energy resolution. For the higher energy events, it will be important to perform calorimetric measurements and reconstruct the energies of through-going events. With respect to angular resolution, this is relevant even in the case of isotropic LIV, since even though its effect is energy dependent, the way it impacts oscillations of atmospheric neutrinos leads to a zenith-dependent effect through the dependence on the baseline Lin the LIV term, of the type $L E^n$. For example, neutrinos travelling through the whole of Earth's diameter or neutrinos travelling horizontally to the detector will behave differently, due to this L dependence. Moreover, the case of a sidereal-LIV is, by definition, direction-dependent. Last but not least, quantum decoherence can give also a zenith-dependent effect on neutrino oscillations.

Effects in the development of atmospheric showers Astroparticles at the highest energies are investigated thanks to the measurements of the cascade of particles generated after the first interaction in the atmosphere. From this shower, one could aim to identify the potential sources. This would be possible with detectors with an angular resolution around or better than 1° over all the energy range of interest. It is also important to have a huge area ground based detector based on a very robust detection technique which enables a duty cycle of about 100% in case of transient sources.

Both the electromagnetic part of the shower and the muonic part can be affected by LIV effects [254, 255]. The change in the energy threshold of particle decays deplete the electromagnetic part of the shower faster than in the Lorentz invariant case, and the net effect is to move the shower maximum to higher altitudes, which consequently affects the calorimetric energy reconstruction of the shower. With respect to the hadronic part of the shower, the decay versus interaction probability of pions can be altered in presence of LIV, with some effects expected on the reconstruction of the energy and of the nuclear species of the primary cosmic ray [256, 257]. In particular, the relative fluctuations of the number of muons strongly decrease for protons as a function of the shower and to its fluctuations can be successfully exploited to test LIV models [255, 258, 259]. Current bounds will benefit from the improved determination of the UHECR mass composition as expected with the upgrade of the Pierre Auger Observatory. Other effects regarding

the photon sector include the vacuum Cherenkov radiation in the atmosphere [260] as well as the modified pair production explored in [249], which could have an impact on the determination of the sensitivity for the observation of photons.

Currently, shower simulation codes such as CORSIKA [261, 262] or CONEX [263] do not allow the simulation of events that violate Lorentz invariance. It is therefore necessary to first model and then introduce modifications to these simulation codes to compute the development of showers in the atmosphere in case of LIV.

In summary, the improvement of the sensitivity to LIV effects through interaction anomalies affecting the propagation of the cosmic messengers requires, quite generally, a better determination of their spectral fluxes, which will be achieved by addressing the following aspects:

- very good energy and angular resolution;
- improved models for the EBL and for the intrinsic spectra at the sources;
- the inclusion of LIV effects in atmospheric shower models;
- excellent rejection properties (e.g., between high-energy gamma rays and cosmic rays) and discrimination power (e.g., between protons and heavy nuclei, or between atmospheric and astrophysical neutrinos, and between neutrinos and antineutrinos);
- in general, much larger amount of statistics at high energies and the introduction of new procedures of analysis, such machine learning techniques.

4. Proposals for new measurement strategies

In this section, we discuss the ongoing and planned upgrades to existing observatories of cosmic messengers, proposals for future ones, and possible new approaches that could strongly benefit the research in QG phenomenology. We divide this section into four parts in order to individually discuss the main cosmic messengers, namely gamma rays, neutrinos, UHECRs, and gravitational waves.

4.1. Gamma-ray experiments

The main targets of gamma-ray astronomy from the QG-gravity perspective concern the possibility of in-vacuo dispersion and the possibility of QG-corrected opacity of the universe to gamma-rays, as discussed in section 2.2 and section 2.3. Therefore, one desires to observe high-energy photons from very distant sources and those that can be described as short-duration bursts (or have intelligible fine time structure to enable time-of-emission considerations). Gamma-ray telescopes with polarization measurement capabilities would have the added bonus of being able to investigate models in which the in-vacuo dispersion has a polarization dependence.

Clearly, the plans being made and implemented about the CTA [264] are very exciting from the QG perspective, since they will provide many opportunities for observing very-high-energy photons from fast and far transient sources. This in particular should include some observations of GRBs as well as observations of the Crab Nebula with its pulsar. One limitation of such observations is that it will deliver data just for relatively nearby sources, which not only decreases the expected magnitude of the effects (which could be compensated by the increase in the observed energies) but also lowers the sensitivity for investigating the form of the redshift dependence of possible in-vacuo dispersion. Complementing CTA with telescopes capable of observing photons with energies between 1 and 100 GeV and sensitive to phenomena occurring at high redshifts would be very important for QG research. The ideal option would be an upgraded version of the *Fermi* Large Area Telescope (LAT). An improvement of merely a factor 2 in effective area and sensitivity with respect to the currect *Fermi* LAT would already lead to progresses in QG research. Looking further in the future, a very desirable prospect would be the one of a network of a few of such "super-*Fermi*" telescopes displaced at large distances (e.g. solar-system-scale distances).

High-altitude air-shower observatories are also a top priority for QG phenomenology, as shown by the interest generated by results already reported by the LHAASO [265], located in the northern hemisphere. Besides that, QG phenomenology and astrophysics in general would be benefited by a similar high-altitude instrument located in the southern hemisphere, such as SWGO [266].

Super-Fermi While all these strategies are extremely valuable, if one wants to imagine the ideal opportunity for QG phenomenology this would be provided by the observation of the prompt phase of GRBs in the energy range between 10 and 100 GeV, particularly the prompt phase of short GRBs. This is challenging for the CTA (moderate field of view, limited chances of seeing the prompt phase of a GRB) and for high-altitude air-shower observatories (good sensitivity only above 1 TeV), but could be achieved by planning a "super-Fermi" space telescope, with larger effective area.

100+ GeV wide field of view ground-based observatories If the spectral break-off of gamma rays caused by internal absorption is larger than 100 GeV, a viable alternative/complement to "super-*Fermi*" space telescopes could be provided by the SWGO [266] or the HADAR experiment [267], planning a ground-based observatory with wide field of view and sensitivity to photons of energies 100 GeV and higher. Similar benefits for QG phenomenology could come from the proposed Plenoscope [268] and MACHETE [269].

All sky (multi satellite observatories) Traditional single-satellite telescopes can cover the whole sky in a few hours, but their effective areas are not very large. There might be benefits for the "discovery reach" of QG phenomenology if there were space telescopes with much wider field of view (and therefore providing higher GRB statistics), even if that came at the cost of a narrower and lower range of energies observed. From this perspective QG phenomenologists are following with strong interest the advent of "distributed astronomy", using several nano-satellites that could serve as an all-sky monitor, with a keV–MeV energy band, providing high statistics at a small temporal scale, besides allowing a more accurate determination of the location of astrophysical events, like GRBs. An example of this strategy is the GrailQuest mission [270] (which would launch a fleet of hundred/thousands of nano-satellites by the 2050s), which is under development through the HERMES project [271].

Laser-light experiments Looking further ahead in the future, and assuming optimistically some rather large progress in our space-mission capabilities, one could hope for controlled experiments studying in-vacuo dispersion. For example, if it will become possible to do laser-light experiments with lasers exchanging a signal between the Earth and the Moon, one could test in-vacuo dispersion using the frequency-doubler strategy proposed in [272].

4.2. Neutrino experiments

Neutrino observatories are very relevant for in-vacuo dispersion studies [273–276]. Invacuo dispersion may affect particle oscillations and modify the flavour ratio at which the 3 known types of neutrinos (e, μ , τ , neutrino flavour) are detected on earth [95]. This effect could additionally be superposed by a possible family-dependence of invacuo dispersion (though none of the quantum-spacetime toy models that appeared in the literature supports this conjecture). As this effect grows with the energy of the particle and the distance from the source, astrophysical neutrinos play a significant role as they reach higher energies (~ PeV) and have longer propagation distances (~ Gpc).

The advent of a new generation of neutrino observatories, including KM3NeT [277] and IceCube-Gen2 [278], will increase the statistics and improve the accuracy of energy determination, which is much more significant for the QG research based on neutrino observations rather than for the astrophysics interest for neutrinos. Experiments based on other technologies such as air shower monitoring and radio arrays such as GRAND [279], can reach observations with higher energy [280] and are therefore surely of great interest to QG phenomenology. In planning these new observatories [281], QG research would be benefited by the accuracy of energy determination and increase in the statistics.

4.3. Cosmic-ray experiments

As discussed in section 2.3.1, the main possible QG effects on UHECR observations are modifications of the kinematics of photonuclear interactions, which could alter the maximum distance from which UHECRs can be observed, and the production rates of cosmogenic neutrinos and photons. Also, modifications of particle lifetimes would alter the development of the air showers, as discussed in the final paragraphs of section 3.2.2, and impact the unresolved "muon puzzle", which consists of a mismatch between the theoretically expected and the experimentally measured number of muons [282, 283]. Presently our most powerful cosmic-ray telescope is the Pierre Auger Observatory, and its results have provided the basis for several QG-phenomenology analyses [259, and references therein]. However, in general converting UHECR data into constraints on QG parameters faces several challenges due to our lack of knowledge about the sources and propagation of UHECR, described in section 3.1, but one can be optimistic about progress in these directions in the coming years [198].

As discussed in section 3.2.2, concerning the planning of the next generation of cosmic-ray observatories, the top priorities for QG are particle identification (especially distinguishing between cosmic-ray protons and cosmic-ray heavy ions), the detection of UHECR photons and of course accuracy of energy determination. From this perspective we are excited about AugerPrime [284], the ongoing upgrade of the Pierre Auger Observatory, adding scintillation surface detectors and radio detectors to the existing water Cherenkov detectors, which will greatly improve its sensitivity to the mass number of primary UHECR nuclei. We are also looking forward to the ongoing upgrade of the Telescope Array (TA×4 [285]), bringing its area from the present 700 km² to about 2800 km². For the next decade we endorse enthusiastically the planning of GRAND [279], JEM-EUSO [286] and POEMMA [287]. As a successor of these facilities, the GCOS [288, 289] anticipates a set of arrays with total area of the order of 60 000 km². For more details on the next generations of cosmic rays observatories, please refer to [198].

4.4. Gravitational-wave experiments

Our current and foreseeable capabilities of observation of gravitational waves do not look promising for tests of QG-induced in-vacuo dispersion since these gravitational waves are of very long wavelength. The interest of the QG-phenomenology community in gravitational-wave interferometry resides mainly in scenarios based on the idea of "spacetime foam", such that QG effects might manifest themselves as an additional source of noise [290–292] for gravitational-wave interferometers. While modelling of the conjectured QG noise is still at a very preliminary stage, it appears [290, 291] that the effects might be more noticeable at lower frequencies, which adds reasons of QG interest in observatories like LISA [293], the DECi-hertz Gravitational-wave Observatory (DECIGO) [294], NANOgrav [97], the Big Bang Observer (BBO) [294, 295] and the Einstein Telescope [296]. These planned (or "planable") gravitational-wave observatories might have added valence for QG research through their ability to test some models of the stochastic background of gravitational waves [297–300].

It has also been noticed that in some scenarios for spacetime quantization (see e.g. [68, 301]), besides changes in their in-vacuo dispersion, gravitational waves may be affected with changes of their amplitude and frequency. Gradually as these studies reach greater maturity in the coming years, we would of course favour plans of gravitationalwave experiments tailored to these features.

From the multimessenger perspective it is interesting that gravitational-wave observations might be used in synergy with the in-vacuo dispersion studies based on data from gamma-ray telescopes. One can hope that through some detections of gravitational waves we might obtain information suitable for improving GRB models, which in turn could be valuable for studies of in-vacuo dispersion, for example, by providing insight into intrinsic spectral lags.

Finally, before closing the section, we should make the important remark, that as in the case of a cosmic refractive index (photons), time delays of gravitational waves may be considered as indirect probes of dark matter, see e.g. [302]. They can be sourced by the interference of the waves due to their scattering with primordial black holes of masses in the range $10-100M_{\odot}$ or planet-sized primordial black holes, which can play the role of a dark matter component.

5. Data availability and collaboration between experiments

Before closing this white paper we would like to discuss future perspective of collaborations between researchers and collaborations working on QG phenomenology and the openness of data.

The community working on QG phenomenology within multimessenger astrophysics is strongly interdisciplinary, combining theorists working on QG, theorists working on astrophysics as well as experimentalists involved in different experiments, observing different types of messengers. This perhaps also renders this community particularly sensitive to an incomplete transition in the policies that concern public availability of data. Until the early 2000s there were no open data requirements. At the present time some experimental collaborations (mainly those which started operating several years ago) still work with limited (and in some cases absent) public availability of data, while others have adopted a strong commitment to publish and archive all data, documentation, tools and educational resources for using the data. These differences probably also reflect corresponding differences in the policies adopted by funding agencies, some of which still pay no attention to public availability of data while others are placing an increasing emphasis on this point.

Unfortunately in many cases a much larger fraction of the data collected by an experiment has been kept reserved for a much longer time period than would appear necessary for scientific reasons. For instance, the Pierre Auger Collaboration initially kept reserved 99% of the UHECR events detected (which was already an improvement over similar experiments, most of which did not publicly release any data at all until decommissioning), with the exception of the datasets used in a few specific works (most recently, all events with $E \geq 32$ EeV detected until 31 December 2020 [303]). In February 2021, it launched an Open Data Portal [304], but as of its writing [305] it still excludes 90% of the UHECR events detected until 31 August 2018 and 100% of the later ones. Nevertheless, there are plans to release up to 30% of its total data set, which exceeds the total exposure of all other UHECR experiments combined [306, 307].

The situation is even worse with other similar experiments. For instance, the only list of UHECR events released by the Telescope Array collaboration so far only includes events with $E \ge 57$ EeV detected until 4 May 2013 [308].

It is important that funding of telescopes and observatories includes the necessary resources for a strong effort of public availability of data. We do not propose a specific recipe, since the optimal solution strongly depends on the specifics of the proposed observations, and we well realize that it is also important to find a good balance between the idealistic interests of pure science and the practical interests of those devoting many years of their lives to preparing an observatory, who then use the embargo system for collecting deserved benefits for their efforts.

But an aggressive data-release policy, requiring 100% of the data to be released within a fixed time period of detection (for instance of the order of the typical duration of a PhD program, e.g. five years), would impel collaborations to complete data analyses in a timely manner, and may end up being net beneficial for science. Moreover, the efforts to make the data usable to outsiders will also help keep the data accessible for archival studies long after the decommissioning of the detectors.

Also journal editors can have an important role, by being very forceful in requesting that data used in a scientific publication be made fully available to the scientific community, also providing the information and tools necessary to understand and use the data.

We strongly endorse ongoing efforts by some collaborations (e.g. H.E.S.S. and MAGIC) to improve their public-availability policies. Two examples which might be considered as reference standards are the *Fermi* LAT data policy and the LIGO/Virgo data policy. Both of them moved from an initial phase of full embargo of their data, to then making an admirably strong commitment to release, archive, and serve the broader scientific community, also providing the information and the required tools to understand and use the data. This combination of an initial phase of embargo followed by a phase of full disclosure might deserve to be adopted more broadly, and the benefits for science will be, of course, maximized if the embargo period is relatively short (the *Fermi* LAT had only one year of embargo, which could be an ideal choice, when other circumstances permit it).

While we are hoping that embargo phases will be short, when it happens that more than one telescope is within an embargo phase (presently many telescopes are in full embargo) one practice that has tempered the impact on the progress of science is the establishment of working groups involving members of different experimental collaborations for the purpose of joint data analyses, governed by memorandums of understanding allowing them to access each other's data before they are released to the general public. Good examples of this practice are the Astrophysical Multimessenger Observatory Network (AMON), which uses subthreshold data (which is not suitable for astrophysical research) and public data from different observatories such as HAWC, ANTARES, and IceCube to search for coincident multimessenger events [309, 310], the multimessenger observation of GW170817 [311], the multimessenger observation of TXS 0506+056 [312], the Working group on Hadronic Interaction and Shower Physics [313], ANTARES+IceCube+Auger+TA searches for neutrino-UHECR correlations [314], Auger+TA anisotropy searches [315] and the International Pulsar Timing Array [316]. These multimessenger initiatives can be boosted by platforms that emit alerts on astrophysical events involving several messengers, such as Astro-COLIBRI [317], General Coordinates Network (GCN) [318], Astronomer's Telegram (ATEL) [319] and the IceCube alert system [320]. As for studies more directly related to searches for QG effects, we point out the initiative [102] which has been involving researchers from H.E.S.S., MAGIC, VERITAS and LST-1 collaboration, and that describes a method to handle combined datasets from these telescopes in order to search for LIV-induced time delays.

6. Final remarks

The realization that observations in high-energy astrophysics have the potential to reveal experimental signatures of a QG theory gave a significant boost to the field of QG phenomenology since the 1990s.

Phenomena in extreme environments in the universe produce high-energy gamma rays, neutrinos, cosmic rays, and gravitational waves. Tiny QG effects in the interactions and propagation of these messengers may show up in experimental observations thanks to the amplification offered by time delays accumulated in their travel through cosmological distances, or by threshold anomalies that may enhance or reduce significantly the expected detected spectrum at Earth.

The magnitude of these effects predicted by phenomenological QG models depends on the modification they consider, a violation (LIV) or a deformation (DSR) of the symmetries of SR, and on the basic parameter of the modification, the so-called QG scale, $E_{\rm QG}$. While this scale is usually associated with the Planck scale, it could also be considerably smaller, according to different theoretical scenarios. LIV effects in the cosmic messengers are sensitive to a Planck-scale $E_{\rm QG}$, but DSR effects in the interactions are only relevant if $E_{\rm QG}$ is close to the energies explored by these messengers, a situation whose consistency requires the absence of effects in the propagation in-vacuo.

The scale of $E_{\rm QG}$ is therefore one of the most pressing theoretical unknowns, and experimental efforts in QG phenomenology should aim for the identification of this scale. Unfortunately, given the current understanding of the consequences of a QG theory, it is not possible to offer very specific proposals to achieve this objective. As a generic goal, this corresponds to trying to push the high-energy limit in the present and near-future experiments. This may be crucial for the observation of sharp cutoffs in the spectrum of photons or neutrinos predicted in superluminal LIV models, as well as to observe an increase of the transparency of the universe for high-energy photons or cosmic rays in the case of DSR or subluminal LIV models. Another relevant effect that may be observed with better exposition at high energies is an enhancement in the cosmogenic production of neutrinos and photons by the interactions of cosmic rays with the CMB and EBL.

Besides the importance of trying to explore higher energies, improvements in the

In particular, better energy and angular resolutions are essential to establish correlations between neutrinos and photons that may be influenced by QG effects. Also, these enhancements are of great importance in time delay studies, or to improve the localization of the sources of high-energy gamma rays, which is relevant for the study of interaction anomalies in their propagation. Excellent rejection properties, and, in general, an improvement in the sensitivity of the detectors to the very low fluxes of the most energetic messengers is also a key to disentangle QG effects. Other upgrades that would be most welcome for this kind of phenomenology are more precise polarization measurements in the case of photons, better flavour and particleantiparticle determination in the case of astrophysical neutrinos, an improvement in the discrimination power on the mass composition for the ultra-high energy cosmic rays, and better sensitivity to additional sources of noise for gravitational-wave interferometers.

The previous experimental requirements need to be complemented with theoretical advancements in the modelling of the astrophysical processes that produce the cosmic messengers (relevant, for example, to discriminate between intrinsic and QG-induced time delays), and of the backgrounds that affect their propagation, such as the EBL, which are a source of systematic uncertainties in studies of the transparency of the universe. An improvement in the methods of analysis, trying to circumvent the limitations of the otherwise powerful likelihood method to model emission curves, or devising new strategies, as a proper combination of samples corresponding to sources of different redshifts, will also be important lines of future developments in the field. The inclusion of QG effects in the simulation codes that model the propagation of the messengers or the development of showers in the atmosphere used for their detection is another important point here.

Progress along these lines will undoubtedly require comprehensive training for PhD students and young postdocs, equipping them with the necessary cross-disciplinary skills and techniques, both theoretical and experimental, essential for research in this field. The current white paper, along with the review on QG phenomenology [9], has resulted from the work conducted within COST Action CA18108 "Quantum Gravity Phenomenology in the multi-messenger approach". This COST Action also organized three Training Schools designed to provide students with the corresponding interdisciplinary expertise. The lecture notes from these schools are being published by PoS, and both the lecture notes and video recordings of the lectures are accessible on the webpage https://qg-mm.unizar.es/publications/. This resource will serve as a lasting legacy from the COST Action for the benefit of future generations of students.

Finally, we advocate supplementing the presently available set of observatories and their upgrades with a new generation of detectors, including new gamma-ray Earthbased and space instruments that allow for a better coverage of the sky and a new generation of neutrino and cosmic rays observatories that may be using new technologies such as radio arrays, with the purpose of providing higher statistics, better energy determination and particle identification, and an accurate location of astrophysical events. The complementarity between these detectors, sensitive to different energy ranges and to different messengers, makes QG phenomenology strongly dependent on the cooperation and commitment of researchers working in different experimental collaborations, together with theorists working in the appropriate modelling of the new effects. Supporting the efforts of open data policies in these new facilities by funding agencies will therefore be essential for the progress of this highly interdisciplinary endeavour that may bring about deep changes in our way of thinking and describing the physical world.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge networking support by the COST Action CA18108 "Quantum gravity phenomenology in the multi-messenger approach". RAB is funded by "la Caixa" Foundation (ID 100010434) and the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement No 847648, fellowship code LCF/BQ/PI21/11830030. JMC, M. Asorey, JLC and MAR are supported by the Spanish grants PGC2022-126078NB-C21, funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033, ERDF A way of making Europe; grant E21_23R, funded by the Aragon Government and the European Union; and the European Union, NextGenerationEU Recovery and Resilience Program on 'Astrofísica y Física de Altas Energías' CEFCA-CAPA-ITAINNOVA. IL was supported by the National Council for Scientific and Technological Development - CNPq grant 306414/2020-1 and by the grant 3197/2021, Paraíba State Research Foundation (FAPESQ). NEM is supported in part by the UK Science and Technology Facilities research Council (STFC) under the research grants ST/T000759/1 and ST/X000753/1 and by the UK Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC) via the research grant EP/V002821/1. CP is funded by the excellence cluster QuantumFrontiers funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) under Germany's Excellence Strategy – EXC-2123 QuantumFrontiers – 390837967. DRG is funded the Spanish grants PID2022-138607NB-I00, funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033, "ERDF A way of making Europe". HA and GGL would like to thank the Spanish "Ministerio de Universidades" for the awarded Maria Zambrano fellowship and funding received from the European Union -NextGenerationEU. M. Adamo, A. Ballesteros, DFS, IGS, FM and JJR acknowledge support by the Q-CAYLE Project funded by the Regional Government of Castilla y León (Spain) and by the Ministry of Science and Innovation MICIN through NextGenerationEU (PRTR C17.I1). A. Bonilla acknowledges a fellowship (44.291/2018-0) of the PCI Program - MCTI and CNPq. The work of MBL is supported by the Basque Foundation of Science Ikerbasque. Her work has been also financed by the Spanish project PID2020-114035GB-100 (MINECO/AEI/FEDER, UE). She would like to acknowledge the financial support from the Basque government Grant No. IT1628-22 (Spain). ACO and MG gratefully acknowledge the financial support of the Spanish grant PID2019-107847RB-C42, funded by MCIN/AEI/ 10.13039/501100011033. SD thanks the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada and the Alberta Government Major Innovations Fund for support. MD, AO and IS acknowledge the support provided by the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Türkiye (TUBITAK). JMD acknowledges the support of project PID2022-138896NB-C51 (MCIU/AEI/MINECO/FEDER, UE) Ministerio de Ciencia, Investigación y Universidades. GD acknowledges the support provided by the Serbian Ministry for Science, Technological Development and Innovation under contract 451-03-47/2023-AD gratefully acknowledges the support from the European Union's 01/2000124.Horizon research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement No. 101068013 with name QGRANT. LD is supported by a grant from the Transilvania Fellowship Program for Postdoctoral Research/Young Researchers (September 2022). CER acknowledges funding from PAPIIT UNAM Project TA100122. SAFV acknowledges support from Helmholtz-Zentrum Dresden-Rossendorf, PIP 11220200101426CO Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET) and Project 11/X748 (UNLP). LAG acknowledges the support of the Hungarian National Research Development and Innovation Office (NKFIH) in the form of the Grant No. 123996. TJ's research was supported by the Croatian Science Foundation Project No. IP-2020-02-9614 Search for Quantum spacetime in Black Hole QNM spectrum and Gamma Ray Bursts. JKG and GR acknowledge the support provided by the Polish National Science Center, project number 2019/33/B/ST2/00050. JLS acknowledges funding from "The Malta Council for Science and Technology" as part of the REP-2023-019 (CosmoLearn) Project. CL acknowledges partial support by a *Boya* Fellowship provided by Peking University. BQM acknowledges the support by National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 12335006). GM acknowledges partial support by Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico -CNPq under grant 317548/2021-2 and Fundação Carlos Chagas Filho de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio de Janeiro - FAPERJ under grants E-26/202.725/2018 and E-26/201.142/2022. DM thanks the Julian Schwinger Foundation and the U.S. Department of Energy (DE-SC00202062) for support. VAM acknowledges support by the Generalitat Valenciana via the Excellence Grant Prometeo CIPROM/2021/073, by the Spanish MICIN / AEI and the European Union / FEDER via the grant PID2021-122134NB-C21, and by the Ministry of Universities (Spain) via the mobility grant PRX22/00633. SN and JDZ acknowledge grants PID2021-124591NB-C41,-C43 funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033 and by "ERDF A way of making Europe". GJO acknowledges support by the Spanish Grant PID2020-116567GB-C21 funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033 "A way of making Europe", and by the Generalitat Valenciana via the Excellence Grant PROMETEO/2020/079. AÖ also acknowledges the support received from the Abdus Salam International Centre for Theoretical Physics, Trieste, Italy. RP supported in part by the Swedish Research Council grant, contract number 2016-05996 and by the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement

No 668679). VP acknowledges the support by the Ministry of Education and Science of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, under project number 05-35-2467-1/23. LP acknowledges support by MUR (Ministero dell'Università e della Ricerca) via the project PRIN 2017 "Taming complexity via QUantum Strategies: a Hybrid Integrated Photonic approach" (QUSHIP) Id. 2017SRNBRK and financial support by the "Angelo Della Riccia" foundation. A. Platania acknowledges support by Perimeter Institute for Theoretical Physics. Research at Perimeter Institute is supported in part by the Government of Canada through the Department of Innovation, Science and Economic Development and by the Province of Ontario through the Ministry of Colleges and Universities. SMMR acknowledges the FCT grants UID-B-MAT/00212/2020 and UID-P-MAT/00212/2020 at CMA-UBI. SR acknowledges the support of the Natural Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada, funding reference No. RGPIN-2021-03644 and No. DGECR-2021-00302. MAR also acknowledges the FPI grant PRE2019-089024 by MICIU/AEI/FSE. IS also expresses gratitude for the support provided by the Anatolian University Libraries Consortium (ANKOS) and the Sponsoring Consortium for Open Access Publishing in Particle Physics (SCOAP3). DS acknowledges the support of Bulgarian National Science Fund No. KP-06-N58/5. AW acknowledges financial support from MICINN (Spain) Ayuda Juan de la Cierva - incorporación 2020 No. IJC2020-044751-I. TT, JS, FR, JMC, GG and CP acknowledge the support from the University of Rijeka through project uniri-iskusni-prirod-23-24.

The following researchers endorse this white paper:

A.F. Ali (Essex County College, NJ, USA); M. Arzano (University of Naples and INFN); J-L. Atteia (IRAP, Université de Toulouse, CNRS, CNES, UPS, Toulouse, France); C. Barceló (Instituto de Astrofísica de Andalucía, IAA CSIC); I. Ben-Dayan (Ariel University, Israel); D. Benisty (University of Cambridge, and Frankfurt Institute for Advanced Studies, fias); N. Bilic (Rudjer Boskovic Institute, Zagreb, Croatia); O. Birnholtz (Bar Ilan University, Israel); D. Blas ("Institut de Física d'Altes Energies (IFAE), BIST, 08193 Bellaterra (Barcelona), Spain and Institució Catalana de Recerca i Estudis Avançats (ICREA), Passeig Lluís Companys 23, 08010 Barcelona, Spain"); D. Blixt (Scuola Superiore Meridionale, Italy) D.E. Bruschi (Institute for Quantum Computing Analytics (PGI-12), Forschungszentrum Jülich); L. Burderi (Department of Physics, University of Cagliari, Italy); L.I. Caramete (Institute of Space Science, Magurele, Romania); M. Chaichian (University of Helsinki, Finland); M. Chernyakova (Dublin City University); S. Clesse (Service de Physique Théorique, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Belgium); M. Demirci (Department of Physics, Karadeniz Technical University, Turkey); P.K. Dhankar (Department of Mathematics, G H Raisoni College of Engineering, Nagpur, India); F. Di Lodovico (King's College London); T. Di Salvo (Department of Physics and Chemistry, University of Palermo, Italy); D.D. Dimitrijević (Faculty of Sciences and Mathematics, University

of Niš, Serbia); J. Ellis (Physics Department, King's College London, UK and Theoretical Physics Department, CERN, Switzerland); C. Escamilla-Rivera (Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México); L. Freidel (Perimeter Institute, Canada); A. Fuster (Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, Eindhoven University of Technology, The Netherlands); J. Gamboa (Universidad de Santiago de Chile); A. k. Ganguly (Banaras Hindu University, India); D.A. Gomes (University of Tartu, Estonia); D. Guetta (Physics Department, Ariel University, Israel); M.J. Guzman (University of Tartu, Estonia); F.J. Herranz (Departamento de Física, Universidad de Burgos, Spain); A. Ioannisian (ITPM and YerPhI, Yerevan 0036, Armenia); P. Jetzer (University of Zurich); K.H. Kampert (Department of Physics, University of Wuppertal, Germany); A. Karam (NICPB, Tallinn); F. Klinkhamer (Karlsruhe Institute of Technology); G. Lambiase (Università di Salerno, Italy); C. Lämmerzahl (ZARM, University of Bremen, Germany); J. Levi Said (University of Malta); M. D. Maia, (Institute of Physics, University of Brasília, Brasília D.F., Brazil); L. Marchetti (University of New Brunswick, Canada); P. Martín-Moruno (Departamento de Física Teórica and IPARCOS, Universidad Complutense de Madrid, Spain); H. Martínez-Huerta (Departamento de Física y Matemáticas, Universidad de Monterrey, NL, México); M. Milošević (Faculty of Sciences and Mathematics, University of Niš, Serbia); L. Miramonti (University of Milano and INFN); J. Navarro-Salas (University of Valencia and IFIC, Spain); S. Navas (Dpto. de Fisica Teorica y del Cosmos and C.A.F.P.E., University of Granada, Spain); M. Niechciol (Experimentelle Astroteilchenphysik, Center for Particle Physics Siegen, University of Siegen, Germany); E.R. Nissimov (Insitute for Nuclear Research and Nuclear Energy, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, Sofia, Bulgaria); R.C. Nunes (Instituto de Física, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil); N.A. Obers (Niels Bohr Instistute and Nordita); G.J. Olmo (University of Valencia and IFIC, Spain); A. Ottewill (University College Dublin); A. Ovgün (Physics Department, Eastern Mediterranean University, Turkey); C.F. Paganini (University of Regensburg, Germany); U. Pensec (Sorbonne Université, CNRS, France); C. Pérez de los Heros (Uppsala University); B. Pulice (Sabanci University, Istanbul, Turkey); A. Racioppi (NICPB, Tallinn, Estonia); M.D. Rodríguez Frías (University of Alcala, Madrid); H. Sahlmann (Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, FAU); I. Sakallı (Physics Department, Eastern Mediterranean University, Turkey); M. Sakellariadou (King's College London); F. Schussler (IRFU, CEA, Université Paris-Saclay, F-91191 Gif-sur-Yvette, France); G.H.W. Sigl (Universität Hamburg); J. Solà Peracaula (Universitat de Barcelona, UB); C.F. Sopuerta (Institute of Space Sciences, ICE, CSIC and IEEC); N. Stergioulas (Aristotle University of Thessaloniki); T.S. Stuttard

REFERENCES

(Niels Bohr Institute, Denmark); T. Thiemann (FAU Erlangen Nuremberg, Erlangen, Germany); T. Trześniewski (University of Wroclaw); C. Tzerefos (National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece); D. Vernieri (University of Naples and INFN); N. Voicu (Transilvania University of Brasov, Romania); A. Wojnar (Department of Theoretical Physics and IPARCOS, Complutense University of Madrid, E-28040, Madrid, Spain); D. Zavrtanik (University of Nova Gorica, Slovenia) and J.D. Zornoza (IFIC, Univ. of Valencia - CSIC).

List of acronyms

AGN	active galactic nucleus
CMB	cosmic microwave background
CTA	Cherenkov Telescope Array
\mathbf{DSR}	doubly special relativity
\mathbf{EBL}	extragalactic background light
\mathbf{GR}	general relativity
GRB	gamma-ray burst
HAWC	the High-Altitude Water Cherenkov Observatory
IACT	imaging atmospheric Cherenkov telescope
LAT	Large Area Telescope
LHAASO	Large High Altitude Air Shower Observatory
LIV	Lorentz invariance violation
MDR	modified dispersion relation
\mathbf{SR}	special relativity
SWGO	Southern Wide-field Gamma-ray Observatory
UHECR	ultra-high-energy cosmic ray
\mathbf{QG}	quantum gravity

References

- Kiefer C 2004 Quantum gravity vol 124 (Oxford: Clarendon) ISBN 978-0-19-958520-5
- Polchinski J 2007 String theory. Vol. 1: An introduction to the bosonic string Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics (Cambridge University Press) ISBN 978-0-511-25227-3, 978-0-521-67227-6, 978-0-521-63303-1
- [3] Polchinski J 2007 String theory. Vol. 2: Superstring theory and beyond Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics (Cambridge University Press) ISBN 978-0-511-25228-0, 978-0-521-63304-8, 978-0-521-67228-3

- [4] Ashtekar A and Bianchi E 2021 Rept. Prog. Phys. 84 042001 (Preprint 2104.
 04394)
- [5] Connes A 1996 Commun. Math. Phys. 182 155-176 (Preprint hep-th/9603053)
- [6] Eichhorn A 2019 Front. Astron. Space Sci. 5 47 (Preprint 1810.07615)
- [7] Loll R 2020 Class. Quant. Grav. **37** 013002 (Preprint 1905.08669)
- [8] Surya S 2019 Living Rev. Rel. 22 5 (Preprint 1903.11544)
- [9] Addazi A et al. 2022 Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. **125** 103948 (Preprint 2111.05659)
- [10] Carlip S 2008 Class. Quant. Grav. 25 154010 (Preprint 0803.3456)
- [11] Carney D, Stamp P C E and Taylor J M 2019 Class. Quant. Grav. 36 034001 (Preprint 1807.11494)
- [12] Pfeifer C 2019 Observables from modified dispersion relations on curved spacetimes:circular orbits, redshift and lateshift 15th Marcel Grossmann Meeting on Recent Developments in Theoretical and Experimental General Relativity, Astrophysics, and Relativistic Field Theories (Preprint 1903.04436)
- [13] Arzano M and Kowalski-Glikman J 2021 Deformations of Spacetime Symmetries: Gravity, Group-Valued Momenta, and Non-Commutative Fields (Lecture Notes in Physics vol 986) ISBN 978-3-662-63095-2, 978-3-662-63097-6
- [14] Mavromatos N E, Arzano M, Gubitosi G, Relancio J J, Obukhov Y N, Hohmann M, Glicenstein J F, Perlick V, Heros C P d l, Terzić T, Kunz J, Herdeiro C A R, Maggio E, Shnir Y, Wojnar A, Shao L, Klimchitskaya G L, Mostepanenko V M, Herrmann S, Rätzel D, Holten J W v, Giulini D, Großardt A and Schwartz P K 2023 Modified and Quantum Gravity Lecture Notes in Physics (Springer Cham) ISBN 978-3-031-31519-0
- [15] Kostelecký V A and Li Z 2021 Phys. Rev. D 103 024059 (Preprint 2008.12206)
- [16] Abdalla H, Cotter G, Backes M, Kasai E and Böttcher M 2023 (Preprint 2311.12620)
- [17] Lehnert, Ralf 2023 EPJ Web Conf. 282 01004 URL https://doi.org/10.1051/ epjconf/202328201004
- [18] Wheeler J A 1955 Phys. Rev. 97 511–536
- [19] Hawking S W 1978 Nucl. Phys. B 144 349–362
- [20] Wheeler J A 1981 Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society 125 25-37 ISSN 0003049X URL http://www.jstor.org/stable/986184
- [21] Garfinkle D and Strominger A 1991 Phys. Lett. B 256 146–149
- [22] Rastgoo S and Requardt M 2016 Phys. Rev. D 94 124019 (Preprint 1606.08073)
- [23] Bose S, Mazumdar A, Morley G W, Ulbricht H, Toroš M, Paternostro M, Geraci A, Barker P, Kim M S and Milburn G 2017 Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 240401 (Preprint 1707.06050)
- [24] Carlip S 2022 (*Preprint* 2209.14282)

- С 2004[25] Kittel Introduction Solid State *Physics* 8th ed to(Wiley) ISBN 9780471415268 URL http://www.amazon.com/ Introduction-Solid-Physics-Charles-Kittel/dp/047141526X/ref=dp_ ob_title_bk
- [26] Iorio A and Lambiase G 2014 Phys. Rev. D 90 025006 (Preprint 1308.0265)
- [27] Lobo F S N, Olmo G J and Rubiera-Garcia D 2015 Phys. Rev. D 91 124001 (Preprint 1412.4499)
- [28] Sotiriou T P and Faraoni V 2010 Rev. Mod. Phys. 82 451–497 (Preprint 0805.
 1726)
- [29] Cai Y F, Capozziello S, De Laurentis M and Saridakis E N 2016 Rept. Prog. Phys. 79 106901 (Preprint 1511.07586)
- [30] Harko T, Koivisto T S, Lobo F S N, Olmo G J and Rubiera-Garcia D 2018 Phys. Rev. D 98 084043 (Preprint 1806.10437)
- [31] Susskind L 1995 J. Math. Phys. 36 6377-6396 (Preprint hep-th/9409089)
- [32] Maldacena J and Susskind L 2013 Fortsch. Phys. 61 781–811 (Preprint 1306.
 0533)
- [33] Maldacena J and Stanford D 2016 Phys. Rev. D 94 106002 (Preprint 1604.07818)
- [34] Lulli M, Marciano A and Shan X 2021 (*Preprint* 2112.01490)
- [35] Verlinde E P 2011 JHEP 04 029 (Preprint 1001.0785)
- [36] MacDowell S W and Mansouri F 1977 Phys. Rev. Lett. 38 739 [Erratum: Phys.Rev.Lett. 38, 1376 (1977)]
- [37] Lee S S 2014 JHEP **01** 076 (Preprint 1305.3908)
- [38] Wilczek F 1998 Phys. Rev. Lett. 80 4851-4854 (Preprint hep-th/9801184)
- [39] Baez J C 2000 Lect. Notes Phys. 543 25–93 (Preprint gr-qc/9905087)
- [40] Calcagni G 2021 Class. Quant. Grav. 38 165006 (Preprint 2102.03363)
- [41] Garay L J 1995 Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 10 145–166 (Preprint gr-qc/9403008)
- [42] Bosso P, Petruzziello L and Wagner F 2023 Phys. Rev. D 107 126009 (Preprint 2302.04564)
- [43] Bosso P 2023 Class. Quant. Grav. 40 055001 (Preprint 2206.15422)
- [44] Arzano M, Gubitosi G and Relancio J J 2023 Lect. Notes Phys. 1017 49–103 (Preprint 2211.11684)
- [45] Petruzziello L and Illuminati F 2021 Nature Commun. 12 4449 (Preprint 2011. 01255)
- [46] Mattingly D 2005 Living Rev. Rel. 8 5 (Preprint gr-qc/0502097)
- [47] Amelino-Camelia G 2002 Nature **418** 34–35 (Preprint gr-qc/0207049)
- [48] Mavromatos N E 2009 J. Phys. Conf. Ser. **174** 012016 (Preprint 0903.0318)
- [49] Amelino-Camelia G, Arzano M, Ling Y and Mandanici G 2006 Class. Quant. Grav. 23 2585–2606 (Preprint gr-qc/0506110)

- [50] Freidel L, Kowalski-Glikman J, Leigh R G and Minic D 2021 Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 30 2141002 (Preprint 2104.00802)
- [51] Gardner S and Latimer D C 2010 Phys. Rev. D 82 063506 (Preprint 0904.1612)
- [52] Latimer D C 2013 Phys. Rev. D 88 063517 (Preprint 1308.1112)
- [53] Ellis J R, Mavromatos N and Nanopoulos D 2008 Phys. Lett. B 665 412–417 (Preprint 0804.3566)
- [54] Gambini R and Pullin J 1999 Phys. Rev. D 59 124021 (Preprint gr-qc/9809038)
- [55] Myers R C and Pospelov M 2003 Phys. Rev. Lett. 90 211601 (Preprint hep-ph/ 0301124)
- [56] Drummond I T and Hathrell S J 1980 Phys. Rev. D 22(2) 343-355 URL https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.22.343
- [57] Kostelecky V A and Mewes M 2001 Phys. Rev. Lett. 87 251304 (Preprint hep-ph/0111026)
- [58] Lämmerzahl C and Hehl F W 2004 Phys. Rev. D 70(10) 105022 URL https: //link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevD.70.105022
- [59] Ellis J R, Farakos K, Mavromatos N E, Mitsou V A and Nanopoulos D V 2000 Astrophys. J. 535 139–151 (Preprint astro-ph/9907340)
- [60] Verlinde E P 2017 SciPost Phys. 2 016 (Preprint 1611.02269)
- [61] Berglund P, Hübsch T, Mattingly D and Minic D 2022 Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 31 2242024 (Preprint 2203.17137)
- [62] Berglund P, Geraci A, Hübsch T, Mattingly D and Minic D 2023 Class. Quant. Grav. 40 155008 (Preprint 2303.15645)
- [63] Berglund P, Freidel L, Hubsch T, Kowalski-Glikman J, Leigh R G, Mattingly D and Minic D 2022 Infrared Properties of Quantum Gravity: UV/IR Mixing, Gravitizing the Quantum – Theory and Observation Snowmass 2021 (Preprint 2202.06890)
- [64] Carrasco J C, Díaz F N and Gago A M 2019 Phys. Rev. D 99 075022 (Preprint 1811.04982)
- [65] Stuttard T 2021 Phys. Rev. D 104 056007 (Preprint 2103.15313)
- [66] Thompson R T and Ford L H 2006 Phys. Rev. D 74 024012 (Preprint gr-qc/ 0601137)
- [67] Vasileiou V, Granot J, Piran T and Amelino-Camelia G 2015 Nature Phys. 11 344–346
- [68] Garcia-Chung A, Mertens J B, Rastgoo S, Tavakoli Y and Vargas Moniz P 2021 Phys. Rev. D 103 084053 (Preprint 2012.09366)
- [69] Alexandre J, Farakos K, Mavromatos N E and Pasipoularides P 2008 Phys. Rev. D 77 105001 (Preprint 0712.1779)
- [70] Ellis J R, Mavromatos N E and Nanopoulos D V 2000 Gen. Rel. Grav. 32 127–144 (Preprint gr-qc/9904068)

- [71] Ellis J R, Mavromatos N E, Nanopoulos D V and Volkov G 2000 Gen. Rel. Grav. 32 1777–1798 (Preprint gr-qc/9911055)
- [72] Freidel L, Kowalski-Glikman J, Leigh R G and Minic D 2019 Phys. Rev. D 99 066011 (Preprint 1812.10821)
- [73] Freidel L, Leigh R G and Minic D 2014 Phys. Lett. B 730 302–306 (Preprint 1307.7080)
- [74] Olmo G J, Rubiera-Garcia D and Wojnar A 2020 Phys. Rept. 876 1–75 (Preprint 1912.05202)
- [75] Mavromatos N E, Sarkar S and Vergou A 2011 Phys. Lett. B 696 300–304 (Preprint 1009.2880)
- [76] Mavromatos N E, Mitsou V A, Sarkar S and Vergou A 2012 Eur. Phys. J. C 72 1956 (Preprint 1012.4094)
- [77] Brouwer M M et al. 2017 Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 466 2547–2559 (Preprint 1612.03034)
- [78] Li C and Ma B Q 2021 Phys. Lett. B 819 136443 (Preprint 2105.06151)
- [79] Xu H and Ma B Q 2016 Astropart. Phys. 82 72–76 (Preprint 1607.03203)
- [80] Läänemets D, Hohmann M and Pfeifer C 2022 Observables from spherically symmetric modified dispersion relations (*Preprint* 2201.04694)
- [81] Glicenstein J F 2019 JCAP 04 010 (Preprint 1902.01887)
- [82] Barcaroli L, Brunkhorst L K, Gubitosi G, Loret N and Pfeifer C 2017 Phys. Rev. D 96 084010 (Preprint 1703.02058)
- [83] Perlman E S, Rappaport S A, Christiansen W A, Ng Y J, DeVore J and Pooley D 2015 Astrophys. J. 805 10 (Preprint 1411.7262)
- [84] Ng Y J and van Dam H 2000 Found. Phys. **30** 795–805 (Preprint gr-qc/9906003)
- [85] Vermeulen S M, Aiello L, Ejlli A, Griffiths W L, James A L, Dooley K L and Grote H 2021 Class. Quant. Grav. 38 085008 (Preprint 2008.04957)
- [86] Verlinde E P and Zurek K M 2021 Phys. Lett. B 822 136663 (Preprint 1902.
 08207)
- [87] Ade P A R et al. (Planck) 2016 Astron. Astrophys. 594 A13 (Preprint 1502.
 01589)
- [88] Aghanim N et al. (Planck) 2020 Astron. Astrophys. 641 A6 [Erratum: Astron.Astrophys. 652, C4 (2021)] (Preprint 1807.06209)
- [89] Shapiro I I 1964 Phys. Rev. Lett. 13 789–791
- [90] Blandford R and Teukolsky S A 1976 apj **205** 580–591
- [91] Cromartie H T et al. (NANOGrav) 2019 Nature Astron. 4 72–76 (Preprint 1904.06759)
- [92] Aghanim N et al. (Planck) 2020 Astron. Astrophys. 641 A6 (Preprint 1807.06209)

- [93] Perlick V 2004 Living Reviews in Relativity 7 9 URL https://doi.org/10. 12942/lrr-2004-9
- [94] Will C M 2014 Living Rev. Rel. 17 4 (Preprint 1403.7377)
- [95] Abbasi R et al. (IceCube) 2022 Nature Phys. 18 1287–1292 (Preprint 2111.04654)
- [96] Abbott B P et al. (KAGRA, LIGO Scientific, Virgo, VIRGO) 2018 Living Rev. Rel. 21 3 (Preprint 1304.0670)
- [97] Agazie G et al. (NANOGrav) 2023 Astrophys. J. Lett. 951 L8 (Preprint 2306. 16213)
- [98] Barcaroli L, Brunkhorst L K, Gubitosi G, Loret N and Pfeifer C 2015 Phys. Rev. D 92 084053 (Preprint 1507.00922)
- [99] Relancio J and Liberati S 2020 Phys. Rev. D 101 064062 (Preprint 2002.10833)
- [100] Pfeifer C and Relancio J J 2021 (*Preprint* 2103.16626)
- [101] Terzić T, Kerszberg D and Strišković J 2021 Universe 7 345 (Preprint 2109. 09072)
- [102] Bolmont J et al. 2022 Astrophys. J. 930 75 (Preprint 2201.02087)
- [103] Amelino-Camelia G, Ellis J R, Mavromatos N, Nanopoulos D V and Sarkar S 1998 Nature 393 763–765 (Preprint astro-ph/9712103)
- [104] Piran T 2004 Rev. Mod. Phys. 76 1143-1210 (Preprint astro-ph/0405503)
- [105] Rosati G, Amelino-Camelia G, Marciano A and Matassa M 2015 Phys. Rev. D 92 124042 (Preprint 1507.02056)
- [106] Pfeifer C 2018 Phys. Lett. B 780 246–250 (Preprint 1802.00058)
- [107] Carmona J M, Cortés J L and Reyes M A 2023 (Preprint 2310.12661)
- [108] Ellis J, Mavromatos N E and Nanopoulos D V 2011 Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 26 2243–2262 (Preprint 0912.3428)
- [109] Liberati S, Visser M and Weinfurtner S 2006 Class. Quant. Grav. 23 3129–3154 (Preprint gr-qc/0510125)
- [110] Gödtel S and Lämmerzahl C 2023 Constraints on short-range gravity with selfgravitating bose-einstein condensates (*Preprint* 2304.01310)
- [111] Mattingly D, Jacobson T and Liberati S 2003 Phys. Rev. D 67 124012 (Preprint hep-ph/0211466)
- [112] Carmona J M, Cortés J L, Pereira L and Relancio J J 2020 Symmetry 12 1298 (Preprint 2008.10251)
- [113] Carmona J M, Cortés J L, Relancio J J, Reyes M A and Vincueria A 2022 Eur. Phys. J. Plus 137 768 (Preprint 2109.08402)
- [114] Martínez-Huerta H, Lang R G and de Souza V 2020 Symmetry 12 1232
- [115] Rubtsov G, Satunin P and Sibiryakov S 2012 Phys. Rev. D 86 085012 (Preprint 1204.5782)

- [116] Carmona J M, Cortés J L, Relancio J J and Reyes M A 2023 Phys. Rev. D 107 043001 (Preprint 2210.02222)
- [117] Carmona J M, Cortés J L, Rescic F, Reyes M A, Terzić T and Vrban F I 2024 (*Preprint* 2404.07842)
- [118] Hossenfelder S 2007 Phys. Rev. D 75 105005 (Preprint hep-th/0702016)
- [119] Amelino-Camelia G, Freidel L, Kowalski-Glikman J and Smolin L 2011 Phys. Rev. D 84 087702 (Preprint 1104.2019)
- [120] Amelino-Camelia G 2017 Entropy **19** 400 (Preprint 1407.7891)
- [121] Amelino-Camelia G, Astuti V, Palmisano M and Ronco M 2021 Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 30 2150046 (Preprint 2012.04397)
- [122] Kowalski-Glikman J and Bevilacqua A 2022 PoS CORFU2021 322 (Preprint 2203.04091)
- [123] Kowalski-Glikman J 2005 Lect. Notes Phys. 669 131–159 (Preprint hep-th/ 0405273)
- [124] Carmona J M, Cortes J L, Mazon D and Mercati F 2011 Phys. Rev. D 84 085010 (Preprint 1107.0939)
- [125] Amelino-Camelia G 2012 Phys. Rev. D 85 084034 (Preprint 1110.5081)
- [126] Gubitosi G and Heefer S 2019 Phys. Rev. D 99 086019 (Preprint 1903.04593)
- [127] Kowalski-Glikman J and Nowak S 2002 Phys. Lett. B 539 126–132 (Preprint hep-th/0203040)
- [128] Amelino-Camelia G, Gubitosi G and Palmisano G 2016 Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 25 1650027 (Preprint 1307.7988)
- [129] Carmona J M, Cortés J L, Relancio J J and Reyes M A 2023 Universe 9 150 (Preprint 2301.08070)
- [130] Amelino-Camelia G and Piran T 2001 Phys. Rev. D 64 036005 (Preprint astro-ph/0008107)
- [131] Amelino-Camelia G 2002 Phys. Lett. B **528** 181–187 (Preprint gr-qc/0107086)
- [132] Saveliev A, Maccione L and Sigl G 2011 JCAP 03 046 (Preprint 1101.2903)
- [133] Martínez-Huerta H and Pérez-Lorenzana A 2017 Phys. Rev. D **95** 063001 (Preprint 1610.00047)
- [134] Abreu P et al. (Pierre Auger) 2022 JCAP **01** 023 (Preprint 2112.06773)
- [135] Aab A et al. (Pierre Auger) 2017 JCAP 04 038 [Erratum: JCAP 03, E02 (2018)] (Preprint 1612.07155)
- [136] Alves Batista R, de Almeida R M, Lago B and Kotera K 2019 JCAP 01 002 (Preprint 1806.10879)
- [137] Heinze J, Fedynitch A, Boncioli D and Winter W 2019 Astrophys. J. 873 88 (Preprint 1901.03338)
- [138] Halim A A et al. (Pierre Auger) 2022 (Preprint 2211.02857)

- [139] Cao Z et al. (LHAASO) 2022 Phys. Rev. Lett. **128** 051102 (Preprint 2106.12350)
- [140] Tavecchio F and Bonnoli G 2016 Astron. Astrophys. 585 A25 (Preprint 1510. 00980)
- [141] Abdalla H and Böttcher M 2018 Astrophys. J. 865 159 (Preprint 1809.00477)
- [142] Abeysekara A U et al. (HAWC) 2023 Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 1052 168253 (Preprint 2304.00730)
- [143] Bai X et al. 2019 (Preprint 1905.02773)
- [144] Abreu P et al. 2019 (Preprint 1907.07737)
- [145] Abreu P et al. (Pierre Auger) 2022 Universe 8 579 (Preprint 2210.12959)
- [146] Guedes Lang R, Martínez-Huerta H and de Souza V 2018 Astrophys. J. 853 23 (Preprint 1701.04865)
- [147] Carmona J M, Cortes J L and Mazon D 2012 Phys. Rev. D 85 113001 (Preprint 1203.2585)
- [148] Reyes Hung M A, Carmona J M, Cortés J L and Relancio J J 2022 PoS CORFU2021 329 (Preprint 2210.10111)
- [149] Cowsik R, Madziwa-Nussinov T, Nussinov S and Sarkar U 2012 Phys. Rev. D 86 045024 (Preprint 1206.0713)
- [150] Argüelles C A and Katori T 2021 Universe 7 490 (Preprint 2109.13973)
- [151] Dai Z, Daigne F and Mészáros P 2017 Space Sci. Rev. 212 409–427
- [152] Perennes C, Sol H and Bolmont J 2020 Astron. Astrophys. 633 A143 (Preprint 1911.10377)
- [153] Hasinger G, Miyaji T and Schmidt M 2005 Astron. Astrophys. 441 417–434 (Preprint astro-ph/0506118)
- [154] Hopkins A M and Beacom J F 2006 Astrophys. J. 651 142–154 (Preprint astro-ph/0601463)
- [155] Wanderman D and Piran T 2010 Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 406 1944–1958 (Preprint 0912.0709)
- [156] Lang R G, Martínez-Huerta H and de Souza V 2019 Phys. Rev. D 99 043015 (Preprint 1810.13215)
- [157] Abdalla H et al. (H.E.S.S.) 2019 Astrophys. J. 870 93 (Preprint 1901.05209)
- [158] Franceschini A, Rodighiero G and Vaccari M 2008 Astron. Astrophys. 487 837 (Preprint 0805.1841)
- [159] Dominguez A et al. 2011 Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 410 2556 (Preprint 1007.1459)
- [160] Saldana-Lopez A, Domínguez A, Pérez-González P G, Finke J, Ajello M, Primack J R, Paliya V S and Desai A 2021 Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 507 5144–5160 (Preprint 2012.03035)

- [161] Alves Batista R, Boncioli D, di Matteo A, van Vliet A and Walz D 2015 JCAP
 10 063 (Preprint 1508.01824)
- [162] Alves Batista R, Boncioli D, di Matteo A and van Vliet A 2019 JCAP 05 006 (Preprint 1901.01244)
- [163] Abdalla H and Böttcher M 2017 Astrophys. J. 835 237 (Preprint 1701.00956)
- [164] Acharya B et al. (CTA Consortium) 2018 Science with the Cherenkov Telescope Array (WSP) ISBN 978-981-327-008-4 (Preprint 1709.07997)
- [165] Abdalla H et al. (CTA) 2021 JCAP 02 048 (Preprint 2010.01349)
- [166] Ahnen M et al. (MAGIC) 2017 Astrophys. J. Suppl. 232 9 (Preprint 1709.00346)
- [167] Gaia Collaboration, Vallenari A, Brown A G A, Prusti T, de Bruijne J H J, Arenou F, Babusiaux C, Biermann M, Creevey O L, Ducourant C, Evans D W, Eyer L, Guerra R, Hutton A, Jordi C, Klioner S A, Lammers U L, Lindegren L, Luri X, Mignard F, Panem C, Pourbaix D, Randich S, Sartoretti P, Soubiran C, Tanga P, Walton N A, Bailer-Jones C A L, Bastian U, Drimmel R, Jansen F, Katz D, Lattanzi M G, van Leeuwen F, Bakker J, Cacciari C, Castañeda J, De Angeli F, Fabricius C, Fouesneau M, Frémat Y, Galluccio L, Guerrier A, Heiter U, Masana E, Messineo R, Mowlavi N, Nicolas C, Nienartowicz K, Pailler F, Panuzzo P. Riclet F, Roux W, Seabroke G M, Sordo R, Thévenin F, Gracia-Abril G, Portell J, Teyssier D, Altmann M, Andrae R, Audard M, Bellas-Velidis I, Benson K, Berthier J, Blomme R, Burgess P W, Busonero D, Busso G, Cánovas H, Carry B, Cellino A, Cheek N, Clementini G, Damerdji Y, Davidson M, de Teodoro P, Nuñez Campos M, Delchambre L, Dell'Oro A, Esquej P, Fernández-Hernández J, Fraile E, Garabato D, García-Lario P, Gosset E, Haigron R, Halbwachs J L, Hambly N C, Harrison D L, Hernández J, Hestroffer D, Hodgkin S T, Holl B, Janßen K, Jevardat de Fombelle G, Jordan S, Krone-Martins A, Lanzafame A C, Löffler W, Marchal O, Marrese P M, Moitinho A, Muinonen K, Osborne P, Pancino E, Pauwels T. Recio-Blanco A, Reylé C, Riello M, Rimoldini L, Roegiers T, Rybizki J, Sarro L M, Siopis C, Smith M, Sozzetti A, Utrilla E, van Leeuwen M, Abbas U, Abrahám P, Abreu Aramburu A, Aerts C, Aguado J J, Ajaj M, Aldea-Montero F, Altavilla G, Alvarez M A, Alves J, Anders F, Anderson R I, Anglada Varela E, Antoja T. Baines D, Baker S G, Balaguer-Núñez L, Balbinot E, Balog Z, Barache C, Barbato D, Barros M, Barstow M A, Bartolomé S, Bassilana J L, Bauchet N, Becciani U, Bellazzini M, Berihuete A, Bernet M, Bertone S, Bianchi L, Binnenfeld A, Blanco-Cuaresma S, Blazere A, Boch T, Bombrun A, Bossini D, Bouquillon S, Bragaglia A, Bramante L, Breedt E, Bressan A, Brouillet N, Brugaletta E, Bucciarelli B, Burlacu A, Butkevich A G, Buzzi R, Caffau E, Cancelliere R, Cantat-Gaudin T. Carballo R, Carlucci T, Carnerero M I, Carrasco J M, Casamiguela L, Castellani M, Castro-Ginard A, Chaoul L, Charlot P, Chemin L, Chiaramida V, Chiavassa A, Chornay N, Comoretto G, Contursi G, Cooper W J, Cornez T, Cowell S, Crifo F, Cropper M, Crosta M, Crowley C, Dafonte C, Dapergolas A, David M, David P, de Laverny P, De Luise F, De March R, De Ridder J, de Souza R, de Torres

A, del Peloso E F, del Pozo E, Delbo M, Delgado A, Delisle J B, Demouchy C, Dharmawardena T E, Di Matteo P, Diakite S, Diener C, Distefano E, Dolding C, Edvardsson B, Enke H, Fabre C, Fabrizio M, Faigler S, Fedorets G, Fernique P, Fienga A, Figueras F, Fournier Y, Fouron C, Fragkoudi F, Gai M, Garcia-Gutierrez A, Garcia-Reinaldos M, García-Torres M, Garofalo A, Gavel A, Gavras P, Gerlach E, Geyer R, Giacobbe P, Gilmore G, Girona S, Giuffrida G, Gomel R, Gomez A, González-Núñez J, González-Santamaría I, González-Vidal J J, Granvik M, Guillout P, Guiraud J, Gutiérrez-Sánchez R, Guy L P, Hatzidimitriou D, Hauser M, Haywood M, Helmer A, Helmi A, Sarmiento M H, Hidalgo S L, Hilger T. Hładczuk N, Hobbs D, Holland G, Huckle H E, Jardine K, Jasniewicz G, Jean-Antoine Piccolo A, Jiménez-Arranz Ó, Jorissen A, Juaristi Campillo J, Julbe F, Karbevska L, Kervella P, Khanna S, Kontizas M, Kordopatis G, Korn A J, Kóspál A, Kostrzewa-Rutkowska Z, Kruszyńska K, Kun M, Laizeau P, Lambert S, Lanza A F, Lasne Y, Le Campion J F, Lebreton Y, Lebzelter T, Leccia S, Leclerc N, Lecoeur-Taibi I, Liao S, Licata E L, Lindstrøm H E P, Lister T A, Livanou E, Lobel A, Lorca A, Loup C, Madrero Pardo P, Magdaleno Romeo A, Managau S, Mann R G, Manteiga M, Marchant J M, Marconi M, Marcos J, Marcos Santos M M S, Marín Pina D, Marinoni S, Marocco F, Marshall D J, Martin Polo L, Martín-Fleitas J M, Marton G, Mary N, Masip A, Massari D, Mastrobuono-Battisti A, Mazeh T, McMillan P J, Messina S, Michalik D, Millar N R, Mints A, Molina D. Molinaro R, Molnár L, Monari G, Monguió M, Montegriffo P, Montero A, Mor R, Mora A, Morbidelli R, Morel T, Morris D, Muraveva T, Murphy C P, Musella I, Nagy Z, Noval L, Ocaña F, Ogden A, Ordenovic C, Osinde J O, Pagani C, Pagano I, Palaversa L, Palicio P A, Pallas-Quintela L, Panahi A, Payne-Wardenaar S, Peñalosa Esteller X, Penttilä A, Pichon B, Piersimoni A M, Pineau F X, Plachy E, Plum G, Poggio E, Prša A, Pulone L, Racero E, Ragaini S, Rainer M, Raiteri C M, Rambaux N, Ramos P, Ramos-Lerate M, Re Fiorentin P, Regibo S, Richards P J, Rios Diaz C, Ripepi V, Riva A, Rix H W, Rixon G, Robichon N, Robin A C, Robin C, Roelens M, Rogues H R O, Rohrbasser L, Romero-Gómez M, Rowell N, Royer F, Ruz Mieres D, Rybicki K A, Sadowski G, Sáez Núñez A, Sagristà Sellés A, Sahlmann J, Salguero E, Samaras N, Sanchez Gimenez V, Sanna N, Santoveña R, Sarasso M, Schultheis M, Sciacca E, Segol M, Segovia J C, Ségransan D, Semeux D, Shahaf S, Siddiqui H I, Siebert A, Siltala L, Silvelo A, Slezak E, Slezak I, Smart R L, Snaith O N, Solano E, Solitro F, Souami D, Souchay J, Spagna A, Spina L, Spoto F, Steele I A, Steidelmüller H, Stephenson C A, Süveges M, Surdej J, Szabados L, Szegedi-Elek E, Taris F, Taylor M B, Teixeira R, Tolomei L, Tonello N, Torra F, Torra J, Torralba Elipe G, Trabucchi M, Tsounis A T, Turon C, Ulla A, Unger N, Vaillant M V, van Dillen E, van Reeven W, Vanel O, Vecchiato A, Viala Y, Vicente D, Voutsinas S, Weiler M, Wevers T, Wyrzykowski Ł, Yoldas A, Yvard P, Zhao H, Zorec J, Zucker S and Zwitter T 2023 Astron. Astrophys. 674 A1 (*Preprint* 2208.00211)

[168] Vernetto S and Lipari P 2016 Phys. Rev. D 94 063009 (Preprint 1608.01587)

- [169] Porter T A, Johannesson G and Moskalenko I V 2017 Astrophys. J. 846 67 (Preprint 1708.00816)
- [170] Khan E, Goriely S, Allard D, Parizot E, Suomijarvi T, Koning A J, Hilaire S and Duijvestijn M C 2005 Astropart. Phys. 23 191–201 (Preprint astro-ph/0412109)
- [171] Boncioli D, Fedynitch A and Winter W 2017 Sci. Rep. 7 4882 (Preprint 1607.
 07989)
- [172] Soriano J F, Anchordoqui L A and Torres D F 2018 Phys. Rev. D 98 043001 (Preprint 1805.00409)
- [173] Allard D, Parizot E, Khan E, Goriely S and Olinto A 2005 Astron. Astrophys.
 443 L29–L32 (Preprint astro-ph/0505566)
- [174] Anchordoqui L A and Soriano J F 2018 Phys. Rev. D 97 043010 (Preprint 1710.00750)
- [175] Alves Batista R, Shin M S, Devriendt J, Semikoz D and Sigl G 2017 Phys. Rev. D 96 023010 (Preprint 1704.05869)
- [176] Hackstein S, Vazza F, Brüggen M, Sorce J G and Gottlöber S 2018 Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 475 2519–2529 (Preprint 1710.01353)
- [177] Aharonian F A, Coppi P S and Voelk H J 1994 Astrophys. J. Lett. 423 L5–L8 (Preprint astro-ph/9312045)
- [178] Plaga R 1995 Nature **374** 430–432
- [179] Neronov A and Semikoz D V 2009 Phys. Rev. D 80 123012 (Preprint 0910.1920)
- [180] Alves Batista R and Saveliev A 2021 Universe 7 223 (Preprint 2105.12020)
- [181] Ryu D, Schleicher D R G, Treumann R A, Tsagas C G and Widrow L M 2012 Space Sci. Rev. 166 1–35 (Preprint 1109.4055)
- [182] Vazza F, Brüggen M, Gheller C, Hackstein S, Wittor D and Hinz P M 2017 Class. Quant. Grav. 34 234001 (Preprint 1711.02669)
- [183] Vachaspati T 2020 (Preprint 2010.10525)
- [184] Heald G et al. (SKA Magnetism Science Working Group) 2020 Galaxies 8 53 (Preprint 2006.03172)
- [185] Lacy M et al. 2020 Publ. Astron. Soc. Pac. **132** 035001 (Preprint 1907.01981)
- [186] Boulanger F et al. 2018 JCAP 08 049 (Preprint 1805.02496)
- [187] Waxman E and Miralda-Escude J 1996 Astrophys. J. Lett. 472 L89–L92 (Preprint astro-ph/9607059)
- [188] Takahashi K, Inoue S, Ichiki K and Nakamura T 2011 Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 410 2741 (Preprint 1007.5363)
- [189] Saveliev A and Alves Batista R 2020 Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 500 2188–2195 (Preprint 2009.09772)
- [190] Broderick A E, Chang P and Pfrommer C 2012 Astrophys. J. 752 22 (Preprint 1106.5494)

- [191] Alves Batista R, Saveliev A and de Gouveia Dal Pino E M 2019 Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 489 3836–3849 (Preprint 1904.13345)
- [192] Perry R and Lyubarsky Y 2021 Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 503 2215–2228 (Preprint 2102.03190)
- [193] Kotera K, Allard D and Olinto A V 2010 JCAP 10 013 (Preprint 1009.1382)
- [194] Berezinsky V S, Blasi P and Ptuskin V S 1997 Astrophys. J. 487 529–535 (Preprint astro-ph/9609048)
- [195] Fang K and Murase K 2018 Nature Phys. 14 396–398 (Preprint 1704.00015)
- [196] Hussain S, Alves Batista R, de Gouveia Dal Pino E M and Dolag K 2021 Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 507 1762–1774 (Preprint 2101.07702)
- [197] Hussain S, Batista R A, de Gouveia Dal Pino E M and Dolag K 2023 Nature Commun. 14 2486 (Preprint 2203.01260)
- [198] Coleman A et al. 2023 Astropart. Phys. 149 102819 (Preprint 2205.05845)
- [199] Alves Batista R, Dundovic A, Erdmann M, Kampert K H, Kuempel D, Müller G, Sigl G, van Vliet A, Walz D and Winchen T 2016 JCAP 05 038 (Preprint 1603.07142)
- [200] Alves Batista R et al. 2022 JCAP **09** 035 (Preprint 2208.00107)
- [201] Aloisio R, Boncioli D, Di Matteo A, Grillo A F, Petrera S and Salamida F 2017 JCAP 11 009 (Preprint 1705.03729)
- [202] Blytt M, Kachelriess M and Ostapchenko S 2020 Comput. Phys. Commun. 257 107163 (Preprint 1909.09210)
- [203] Porter T A, Johannesson G and Moskalenko I V 2022 Astrophys. J. Supp. 262 30 (Preprint 2112.12745)
- [204] Reyes M A, Boncioli D, Carmona J M and Cortés J L 2023 PoS ICRC2023 1026 (Preprint 2309.02103)
- [205] Saveliev A and Alves Batista R 2023 PoS ICRC2023 903 (Preprint 2307.11421)
- [206] Alves Batista R et al. 2021 (Preprint 2110.10074)
- [207] Cornish N, Blas D and Nardini G 2017 Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 161102 (Preprint 1707.06101)
- [208] Aharonian F A, Bogovalov S V and Khangulyan D 2012 Nature 482N7386 507– 509
- [209] Hirotani K 2014 Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 442 L43 (Preprint 1403.7300)
- [210] Albert J et al. (MAGIC, Other Contributors) 2008 Phys. Lett. B 668 253–257 (Preprint 0708.2889)
- [211] Vasileiou V, Jacholkowska A, Piron F, Bolmont J, Couturier C, Granot J, Stecker F, Cohen-Tanugi J and Longo F 2013 Phys. Rev. D 87 122001 (Preprint 1305.3463)
- [212] Barres de Almeida U and Daniel M K 2012 Astropart. Phys. 35 850–860 (Preprint 1204.2205)

- [213] Scargle J D, Norris J P and Bonnell J T 2008 apj 673 972–980
- [214] Ellis J R, Harries N, Meregaglia A, Rubbia A and Sakharov A 2008 Phys. Rev. D 78 033013 (Preprint 0805.0253)
- [215] Abe H et al. (MAGIC) 2023 PoS ICRC2023 912
- [216] Abbasi R et al. (IceCube) 2021 Phys. Rev. D 104 022002 (Preprint 2011.03545)
- [217] Aartsen M G et al. (IceCube) 2013 Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 021103 (Preprint 1304.5356)
- [218] Abbasi R et al. (IceCube) 2021 Phys. Rev. D 104 022002 (Preprint 2011.03545)
- [219] Aartsen M G et al. (IceCube) 2016 Astrophys. J. 833 3 (Preprint 1607.08006)
- [220] Stettner J (IceCube) 2020 PoS ICRC2019 1017 (Preprint 1908.09551)
- [221] Abbasi R et al. (IceCube, Fermi Gamma-ray Burst Monitor) 2022 Astrophys. J.
 939 116 (Preprint 2205.11410)
- [222] GRBweb https://user-web.icecube.wisc.edu/~grbweb_public/index.html
- [223] Amelino-Camelia G, Di Luca M G, Gubitosi G, Rosati G and D'Amico G 2023 Nature Astron. 7 996–1001 (Preprint 2209.13726)
- [224] Contaldi C R, Magueijo J and Smolin L 2008 Phys. Rev. Lett. **101** 141101 (Preprint 0806.3082)
- [225] Maccione L, Liberati S, Celotti A, Kirk J G and Ubertini P 2008 Phys. Rev. D 78 103003 (Preprint 0809.0220)
- [226] Toma K et al. 2012 Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 241104 (Preprint 1208.5288)
- [227] Wei J J 2019 MNRAS **485** 2401–2406 (Preprint 1905.03413)
- [228] De Angelis A, Tatischeff V, Tavani M, Oberlack U, Grenier I, Hanlon L, Walter R, Argan A, von Ballmoos P, Bulgarelli A and et al (e-ASTROGAM) 2017 Exper. Astron. 44 25–82 (Preprint 1611.02232)
- [229] Kierans C A (AMEGO Team) 2020 Proc. SPIE Int. Soc. Opt. Eng. 11444 1144431 (Preprint 2101.03105)
- [230] Soffitta P, Baldini L, Bellazzini R, Costa E, Latronico L, Muleri F, Monte E D, Fabiani S, Minuti M, Pinchera M, Sgro' C, Spandre G, Trois A, Amici F, Andersson H, Attina' P, Bachetti M, Barbanera M, Borotto F, Brez A, Brienza D, Caporale C, Cardelli C, Carpentiero R, Castellano S, Castronuovo M, Cavalli L, Cavazzuti E, Ceccanti M, Centrone M, Ciprini S, Citraro S, D'Amico F, D'Alba E, Cosimo S D, Lalla N D, Marco A D, Persio G D, Donnarumma I, Evangelista Y, Ferrazzoli R, Hayato A, Kitaguchi T, Monaca F L, Lefevre C, Loffredo P, Lorenzi P, Lucchesi L, Magazzu C, Maldera S, Manfreda A, Mangraviti E, Marengo M, Matt G, Mereu P, Morbidini A, Mosti F, Nakano T, Nasimi H, Negri B, Nenonen S, Nuti A, Orsini L, Perri M, Pesce-Rollins M, Piazzolla R, Pilia M, Profeti A, Puccetti S, Rankin J, Ratheesh A, Rubini A, Santoli F, Sarra P, Scalise E, Sciortino A, Tamagawa T, Tardiola M, Tobia

A, Vimercati M and Xie F 2021 *The Astronomical Journal* **162** 208 URL https://dx.doi.org/10.3847/1538-3881/ac19b0

- [231] Weisskopf M C, Soffitta P, Baldini L, Ramsey B D, O'Dell S L, Romani R W, Matt G, Deininger W D, Baumgartner W H, Bellazzini R, Costa E, Kolodziejczak J J, Latronico L, Marshall H L, Muleri F, Bongiorno S D, Tennant A, Bucciantini N, Dovciak M, Marin F, Marscher A, Poutanen J, Slane P, Turolla R, Kalinowski W, Marco A D, Fabiani S, Minuti M, Monaca F L, Pinchera M, Rankin J, Sgrò C, Trois A, Xie F, Alexander C, Allen D Z, Amici F, Andersen J, Antonelli A, Antoniak S, Attiná P, Barbanera M, Bachetti M, Baggett R M, Bladt J, Brez A, Bonino R, Boree C, Borotto F, Breeding S, Brienza D, Bygott H K, Caporale C, Cardelli C, Carpentiero R, Castellano S, Castronuovo M, Cavalli L, Cavazzuti E, Ceccanti M, Centrone M, Citraro S, D'Amico F, D'Alba E, Gesu L D, Monte E D, Dietz K L, Lalla N D, Persio G D, Dolan D, Donnarumma I, Evangelista Y, Ferrant K, Ferrazzoli R, Ferrie M, Footdale J, Forsyth B, Foster M, Garelick B, Gunji S, Gurnee E, Head M, Hibbard G, Johnson S, Kelly E, Kilaru K, Lefevre C, Roy S L, Loffredo P, Lorenzi P, Lucchesi L, Maddox T, Magazzu G, Maldera S, Manfreda A, Mangraviti E, Marengo M, Marrocchesi A, Massaro F, Mauger D, McCracken J, McEachen M, Mize R, Mereu P, Mitchell S, Mitsuishi I, Morbidini A, Mosti F, Nasimi H, Negri B, Negro M, Nguyen T, Nitschke I, Nuti A, Onizuka M, Oppedisano C, Orsini L, Osborne D, Pacheco R, Paggi A, Painter W, Pavelitz S D, Pentz C, Piazzolla R, Perri M, Pesce-Rollins M, Peterson C, Pilia M, Profeti A, Puccetti S, Ranganathan J, Ratheesh A, Reedy L, Root N, Rubini A, Ruswick S, Sanchez J, Sarra P, Santoli F, Scalise E, Sciortino A, Schroeder C, Seek T, Sosdian K, Spandre G, Speegle C O, Tamagawa T, Tardiola M, Tobia A, Thomas N E, Valerie R, Vimercati M, Walden A L, Weddendorf B, Wedmore J, Welch D, Zanetti D and Zanetti F 2022 Journal of Astronomical Telescopes, Instruments, and Systems 8 026002 URL https://doi.org/10.1117/1.JATIS.8.2.026002
- [232] Zhang S N et al. (eXTP) 2016 Proc. SPIE Int. Soc. Opt. Eng. 9905 99051Q (Preprint 1607.08823)
- [233] Ilie C 2019 Publ. Astron. Soc. Pac. **131** 111001 (Preprint 1906.02824)
- [234] Bernard D, Chattopadhyay T, Kislat F and Produit N 2022 Gamma-Ray Polarimetry (Preprint 2205.02072)
- [235] Bernard D 2022 Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 1042 167462 (Preprint 2209.00684)
- [236] Aab A et al. (Pierre Auger) 2021 JINST 16 P07016 (Preprint 2103.11983)
- [237] Aab A et al. (Pierre Auger) 2021 JINST 16 P07019 (Preprint 2101.02946)
- [238] Tomar G, Mohanty S and Pakvasa S 2015 JHEP **11** 022 (Preprint **1507.03193**)
- [239] Rubtsov G, Satunin P and Sibiryakov S 2017 JCAP 05 049 (Preprint 1611.10125)
- [240] Galaverni M and Sigl G 2008 Phys. Rev. D 78 063003 (Preprint 0807.1210)
- [241] Lang R G, Martínez-Huerta H and de Souza V 2019 Phys. Rev. D 99 043015 (Preprint 1810.13215)

- [242] Li H and Ma B Q 2023 Astropart. Phys. **148** 102831 (Preprint 2210.06338)
- [243] Li C and Ma B Q 2021 Phys. Rev. D 104 063012 (Preprint 2105.07967)
- [244] Chen L, Xiong Z, Li C, Chen S and He H 2021 (*Preprint* 2105.07927)
- [245] Cao Z et al. (LHAASO) 2021 Nature 594 33–36 ISSN 1476-4687
- [246] Aharonian F et al. 2021 Chin. Phys. C 45 025002 (Preprint 2010.06205)
- [247] Biteau J and Williams D A 2015 Astrophys. J. 812 60 (Preprint 1502.04166)
- [248] Niechciol M (Pierre Auger) 2023 EPJ Web Conf. 283 04003
- [249] Rubtsov G, Satunin P and Sibiryakov S 2014 Phys. Rev. D 89 123011 (Preprint 1312.4368)
- [250] Stecker F W and Scully S T 2014 Phys. Rev. D 90 043012 (Preprint 1404.7025)
- [251] Heinze J, Boncioli D, Bustamante M and Winter W 2016 Astrophys. J. 825 122 (Preprint 1512.05988)
- [252] Biehl D, Fedynitch A, Palladino A, Weiler T J and Winter W 2017 JCAP 01 033 (Preprint 1611.07983)
- [253] Kostelecky A and Mewes M 2012 Phys. Rev. D 85 096005 (Preprint 1112.6395)
- [254] Boncioli D, di Matteo A, Salamida F, Aloisio R, Blasi P, Ghia P L, Grillo A, Petrera S and Pierog T 2016 PoS ICRC2015 521 (Preprint 1509.01046)
- [255] Abreu P et al. (Pierre Auger) 2021 PoS ICRC2021 340
- [256] Diaz J S, Klinkhamer F R and Risse M 2016 Phys. Rev. D 94 085025 (Preprint 1607.02099)
- [257] Klinkhamer F R, Niechciol M and Risse M 2017 Phys. Rev. D 96 116011 (Preprint 1710.02507)
- [258] Lobo I P, Pfeifer C, Morais P H, Batista R A and Bezerra V B 2022 JHEP 09 003 (Preprint 2112.12172)
- [259] Trimarelli C (Pierre Auger) 2023 EPJ Web Conf. 283 05003
- [260] Duenkel F, Niechciol M and Risse M 2023 Phys. Rev. D 107 083004 (Preprint 2303.05849)
- [261] Heck D, Knapp J, Capdevielle J N, Schatz G and Thouw T 1998
- [262] Alameddine J M et al. (CORSIKA) 2023 PoS ICRC2023 310 (Preprint 2308.
 05475)
- [263] Pierog T et al. 2006 Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl. 151 159–162 (Preprint astro-ph/ 0411260)
- [264] Acharya B S et al. (CTA Consortium) 2018 Science with the Cherenkov Telescope Array (WSP) ISBN 978-981-327-008-4 (Preprint 1709.07997)
- [265] Cao Z et al. (LHAASO) 2023 Science **380** adg9328 (Preprint 2306.06372)
- [266] Albert A et al. (SWGO) 2019 (Preprint 1902.08429)
- [267] Chen Q L et al. 2023 Chin. Phys. C 47 095001 (Preprint 2303.15683)

- [268] Mueller S A 2019 Cherenkov-Plenoscope Ph.D. thesis Zurich, ETH (Preprint 1904.13368)
- [269] Cortina J, López-Coto R and Moralejo A 2016 Astroparticle Physics 72 46–54 (Preprint 1507.02532)
- [270] Burderia L et al. (HERMES-SP) 2021 GrailQuest & HERMES: Hunting for Gravitational Wave Electromagnetic Counterparts and Probing Space-Time Quantum Foam SPIE Astronomical Telescopes + Instrumentation 2020 (Preprint 2101.07119)
- [271] Fiore F et al. (HERMES-SP, HERMES-TP) 2021 The HERMES-Technologic and Scientific Pathfinder SPIE Astronomical Telescopes + Instrumentation 2020 (Preprint 2101.03078)
- [272] Amelino-Camelia G and Lammerzahl C 2004 Class. Quant. Grav. 21 899–916 (Preprint gr-qc/0306019)
- [273] Amelino-Camelia G, Barcaroli L, D'Amico G, Loret N and Rosati G 2016 Phys. Lett. B 761 318–325 (Preprint 1605.00496)
- [274] Amelino-Camelia G, D'Amico G, Rosati G and Loret N 2017 Nature Astron. 1 0139 (Preprint 1612.02765)
- [275] Huang Y and Ma B Q 2018 Communications Physics 1 62 (Preprint 1810.01652)
- [276] Huang Y, Li H and Ma B Q 2019 Phys. Rev. D 99 123018 (Preprint 1906.07329)
- [277] Adrian-Martinez S et al. (KM3Net) 2016 J. Phys. G 43 084001 (Preprint 1601.07459)
- [278] Aartsen M G et al. (IceCube-Gen2) 2021 J. Phys. G 48 060501 (Preprint 2008.04323)
- [279] Alvarez-Muñiz J et al. (GRAND) 2020 Sci. China Phys. Mech. Astron. 63 219501 (Preprint 1810.09994)
- [280] Argüelles C A et al. 2023 Eur. Phys. J. C 83 15 (Preprint 2203.10811)
- [281] Ackermann M et al. 2022 JHEAp **36** 55–110 (Preprint **2203.08096**)
- [282] Aab A et al. (Pierre Auger) 2021 Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 152002 (Preprint 2102.
 07797)
- [283] Albrecht J et al. 2022 Astrophys. Space Sci. 367 27 (Preprint 2105.06148)
- [284] Castellina A (Pierre Auger) 2019 EPJ Web Conf. 210 06002 (Preprint 1905. 04472)
- [285] Abbasi R U et al. (Telescope Array) 2021 Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 1019 165726 (Preprint 2103.01086)
- [286] Casolino M and Parizot E (JEM-EUSO) 2023 PoS ICRC2023 208 (Preprint 2310.02624)
- [287] Olinto A V et al. (POEMMA) 2021 JCAP 06 007 (Preprint 2012.07945)
- [288] Hörandel J R (GCOS) 2021 PoS ICRC2021 027 (Preprint 2203.01127)

- [289] Alves Batista R (GCOS) 2023 PoS ICRC2023 281 (Preprint 2309.17324)
- [290] Amelino-Camelia G 1999 Nature **398** 216–218 (Preprint gr-qc/9808029)
- [291] Amelino-Camelia G 2001 Nature 410 1065–1067 (Preprint gr-qc/0104086)
- [292] Parikh M, Wilczek F and Zahariade G 2021 Phys. Rev. Lett. 127 081602 (Preprint 2010.08205)
- [293] Amaro-Seoane P et al. (LISA) 2017 (Preprint 1702.00786)
- [294] Yagi K and Seto N 2011 Phys. Rev. D 83 044011 [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 95, 109901 (2017)] (Preprint 1101.3940)
- [295] Mukhopadhyay M, Cardona C and Lunardini C 2021 JCAP 07 055 (Preprint 2105.05862)
- [296] Maggiore M et al. 2020 JCAP **03** 050 (Preprint 1912.02622)
- [297] Addazi A, Marcianò A and Pasechnik R 2019 Chin. Phys. C 43 065101 (Preprint 1812.07376)
- [298] Addazi A, Marcianò A, Morais A P, Pasechnik R, Srivastava R and Valle J W 2020 Phys. Lett. B 807 135577 (Preprint 1909.09740)
- [299] Yang H, Freitas F F, Marciano A, Morais A P, Pasechnik R and Viana J a 2022 Phys. Lett. B 830 137162 (Preprint 2204.00799)
- [300] Addazi A, Marciano A, Morais A P, Pasechnik R and Yang H 2022 (Preprint 2204.10315)
- [301] Garcia-Chung A, Carney M F, Mertens J B, Parvizi A, Rastgoo S and Tavakoli Y 2022 JCAP 11 054 (Preprint 2208.09739)
- [302] Liao K, Ding X, Biesiada M, Fan X L and Zhu Z H 2018 Astrophys. J. 867 69 (Preprint 1809.07079)
- [303] Abreu P et al. (Pierre Auger) 2022 Astrophys. J. 935 170 (Preprint 2206.13492)
- [304] Data A O https://opendata.auger.org [Accessed: (October 6th 2023)]
- [305] Collaboration T P A 2022 Pierre auger observatory open data URL https: //doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.6867688
- [306] Abdul Halim A et al. 2023 PoS ICRC2023 1616
- [307] Abdul Halim A et al. (Pierre Auger) 2023 (Preprint 2309.16294)
- [308] Abbasi R U et al. (Telescope Array) 2014 Astrophys. J. Lett. 790 L21 (Preprint 1404.5890)
- [309] Ayala Solares H A et al. (AMON Team, ANTARES, HAWC) 2023 Astrophys. J.
 944 166 (Preprint 2209.13462)
- [310] Ayala Solares H A et al. (AMON Team, HAWC, IceCube) 2021 Astrophys. J. 906
 63 (Preprint 2008.10616)
- [311] Abbott B P et al. (LIGO Scientific, Virgo, Fermi GBM, INTEGRAL, IceCube, AstroSat Cadmium Zinc Telluride Imager Team, IPN, Insight-Hxmt, ANTARES, Swift, AGILE Team, 1M2H Team, Dark Energy Camera GW-EM, DES,

DLT40, GRAWITA, Fermi-LAT, ATCA, ASKAP, Las Cumbres Observatory Group, OzGrav, DWF (Deeper Wider Faster Program), AST3, CAASTRO, VINROUGE, MASTER, J-GEM, GROWTH, JAGWAR, CaltechNRAO, TTU-NRAO, NuSTAR, Pan-STARRS, MAXI Team, TZAC Consortium, KU, Nordic Optical Telescope, ePESSTO, GROND, Texas Tech University, SALT Group, TOROS, BOOTES, MWA, CALET, IKI-GW Follow-up, H.E.S.S., LOFAR, LWA, HAWC, Pierre Auger, ALMA, Euro VLBI Team, Pi of Sky, Chandra Team at McGill University, DFN, ATLAS Telescopes, High Time Resolution Universe Survey, RIMAS, RATIR, SKA South Africa/MeerKAT) 2017 Astrophys. J. Lett. 848 L12 (Preprint 1710.05833)

- [312] Aartsen M et al. (IceCube, Fermi-LAT, MAGIC, AGILE, ASAS-SN, HAWC, H.E.S.S., INTEGRAL, Kanata, Kiso, Kapteyn, Liverpool Telescope, Subaru, Swift NuSTAR, VERITAS, VLA/17B-403) 2018 Science 361 eaat1378 (Preprint 1807.08816)
- [313] Arteaga Velazquez J C 2023 *PoS* **ICRC2023** 466
- [314] Albert A et al. (IceCube, Pierre Auger, Telescope Array, Auger, ANTARES) 2022 Astrophys. J. 934 164 (Preprint 2201.07313)
- [315] Aab A et al. (Telescope Array, Pierre Auger) 2014 Astrophys. J. 794 172 (Preprint 1409.3128)
- [316] Antoniadis J et al. 2022 Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 510 4873–4887 (Preprint 2201.03980)
- [317] Astro-COLIBRI https://astro-colibri.com/#/ [Accessed: (May 10th 2023)]
- [318] (GCN) G C N https://gcn.nasa.gov [Accessed: (September 18th 2023)]
- [319] (ATEL) A T https://www.astronomerstelegram.org [Accessed: (May 10th 2023)]